Bryan Chai

Program in Neuroscience Department of Neural and Pain Sciences University of Maryland, Baltimore School of Dentistry bchai001@umaryland.edu

EDUCATION

University of Maryland, Baltimore School of Dentistry, Baltimore, MD D.D.S - Ph.D (2006-2013) Dissertation: Trigeminal-RVM involvement in contralateral deep tissue orofacial hyperalgesia. GPA: 3.67 (Dental School), 3.63 (Graduate School)

University of California, Los Angeles, CA B.S (2003-2006) Major: Biochemistry Cum Laude, GPA: 3.73

AWARDS

NIH - NIDCR F30 grant - 1F30DE021942(September 2011 - Present)

• Title: Trigeminal-RVM involvement in contralateral deep tissue orofacial hyperalgesia.

Bloc Travel Grant, American Association of Dental Research (March 2009)

• Awards chosen abstract submissions travel funds to present at the Annual meeting

3rd Place - Summer Research Student Award, University of Maryland Baltimore(August 2007)

• Awarded travel funds to present the Research poster at the ADA Student Research Conference

ACADEMIC POSITIONS

Student Research Group, University of Maryland, Baltimore School of Dentistry Officer (June 2008 – Present)

Developed seminars, journal clubs, and social events to advance student participation in dental research

National Student Research Group, American Association of Dental Research Member-at-large (May 2009 – April 2011) Appointed Board Member – Developed student programming at the Annual IADR/AADR meeting

AADR/Dentsply Poster Competition Basic Science Judge (March 2010) Judged student poster presentations of basic science research for monetary awards

Summer Research Poster Competition, University of Maryland, Baltimore School of Dentistry Poster Competition Judge (August 2010) Judged student poster presentations for travel awards to various dental meetings

RELATED EXPERIENCE

University of Maryland Dental School Summer Research Program Student Researcher (May 2007 – August 2007) I participated in a summer rotation that provided research experience and project development with an appointed mentor. The project and results were presented in multiple oral presentations and a final poster presentation.

Kaplan Test Preparation DAT Instructor (October 2005 – June 2006) I instructed Kaplan classes and private tutoring sessions for Dental Admission Test preparation to undergraduate students

UCLA Department of Neurology Stroke Force Student Fellow (September 2004 – October 2005) I participated in ER screening of stroke patients for clinical research, neurological rounds, and community outreach programs focusing on public education

PUBLICATIONS

Chai, B. Guo, W. Wei, F. Dubner, R. Ren, K. Trigeminal-Rostral Ventromedial Medulla circuitry is involved in orofacial hyperalgesia contralateral to tissue injury. Mol Pain. 2012; 8: 78.

Guo, W. Wang, H. Gu, M. Zou, S. LaGraize, S. Chai, B. Ren, K. Dubner, R. Wei, F. Coordinated alterations in astroglial activity and descending facilitation of neuropathic pain. 3rd International Congress on Neuropathic Pain-NeuPSIG, 2010. 51-56.

Shimizu, K*.Chai, B*.LaGraize, S. Ren, K. Dubner, R. Microinjection of IL-1b into the trigeminal transition zone produces bilateral NMDA receptor-dependent orofacial hyperalgesia involving descending circuitry. Open Pain Journal, 2009, vol.2, 76-83. *Authors contributed equally

ABSTRACTS

Chai, B. Guo, W. Wei, F. Ren, K. Dubner, R. CFA-induced contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia requires descending RVM serotonergic input and activation of 5-HT₃ receptors in the contralateral spinal trigeminal nucleus. 2011. Annual meeting of the Society for Neuroscience. Washington, D.C

Chai, B. Wei, F. Ren, K. Dubner, R. Unilateral-induced contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia requires activation of trigeminal-RVM circuitry involving IL-1 and NK-1 receptors. 2010. Annual Meeting of the Society for Neuroscience. San Diego, CA

Chai, B. Shimizu, K. LaGraize, S. Ren, K. Dubner, R. Supraspinal circuitry mediates unilateral IL-1b-induced contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia. 2009. IADR/AADR Annual Conference. Miami, FL

Chai, B. Shimizu, K. Ren, K. Dubner, R. The effect of propentofylline on orofacial hyperalgesia. 2008. ADA Student Research Conference. Gaithersburg, MD

MEMBERSHIPS

American Dental Association (2006 - Present) American Student Dental Association (2006 - Present) American Association of Dental Research (2008 - 2012) Society for Neuroscience (2008 - 2012)

Abstract

Title of Dissertation:	Trigeminal-rostral ventromedial medulla involvement in contralateral deep tissue orofacial hyperalgesia	
	Bryan Chai	
Dissertation directed by:	Ke Ren, MD, PhD Professor, Department of Neural and Pain Sciences School of Dentistry University of Maryland, Baltimore	

In 2008, the National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research indicated that approximately 10 million Americans suffer from temporomandibular joint disorders (TMJD). Orofacial pain disorders not only impair the quality of life, but also seriously inhibit the health of the patient by impairing a person's ability to eat and drink. Reports have shown that patients with myofascial TMJD experience bilateral thermal hypersensitivity in the trigeminal region (Fernandez-de-las-Penas et al 2010). Our previous studies have shown that complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA)-induced masseter muscle inflammation and microinjection of the pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-1ß (IL-1 β) into the subnucleus interpolaris/subnucleus caudalis transition zone of the spinal trigeminal nucleus (Vi/Vc) induce contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia in rat models. Furthermore, ventral Vi/Vc second order neurons project to the rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) (Sugivo et al 2005), a critical site for descending pain modulation, and substance P (SP) and its neurokinin-1 (NK-1) tachykinin receptor in the RVM are involved in descending pain facilitation (LaGraize et al 2010). We hypothesize that the development of bilateral deep tissue orofacial hyperalgesia after unilateral inflammation

involves neuron-glial interactions in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc transition zone, the SP/NK-1 receptor signaling in the RVM, and subsequent activation of RVM 5-HT containing neurons terminating in the contralateral Vi/Vc transition zone. The results showed that 1) microinjection of the IL-1 receptor antagonist into the ipsilateral Vi/Vc attenuated the CFA-induced contralateral hyperalgesia, 2) lesions to the ipsilateral Vc did not prevent the development of contralateral hyperalgesia, 3) ibotenic acid lesion of RVM neurons prevented the development of IL-1β-induced contralateral hyperalgesia, 4) intra-RVM post-treatment injection of the NK-1 receptor antagonists attenuated CFA-induced bilateral hyperalgesia and IL-1β-induced bilateral hyperalgesia, 5) serotonin depletion in RVM neurons prior to intra-masseter CFA injection prevented the development of contralateral hyperalgesia. These results suggest that the development of CFA-induced contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia is mediated through descending facilitatory mechanisms involving the Vi/Vc-RVM circuitry.

Trigeminal-rostral ventromedial medulla involvement in contralateral

deep tissue orofacial hyperalgesia

by Bryan Y. Chai

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, Baltimore in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy 2013

Acknowledgements

Without the dedicated guidance, encouragement, and training of my mentor, Ke Ren, my dissertation would not have been possible. He always provided an open door and ear for any problems and struggles I had. I owe just as much thanks to Ronald Dubner for always challenging me be a better scientist, student, and person. I am grateful to both for never giving up on me and never letting me give up on myself. Thank you for always keeping me on track and providing me with the tools to complete this dissertation. I know that the training and support I have received from them will be invaluable in my future career.

I would like to thank the members of my committee: Jin Ro, Asaf Keller, and Bruce Kreuger, for all the advice and support throughout the process. I would like to give a special thanks to Norman Capra, Sharon Gordon, Frances Addison, Judy Pennington, and Yulvonnda Brown for their administrative assistance throughout all the years of my program. Their help through my transition between the School of Dentistry and the Program in Neuroscience was invaluable.

Additionally, I would like to thank the many lab members that have contributed to my successful completion of this dissertation including Shiping Zou and Ming Gu, . I would like to thank Wei Guo and Feng Wei for her help and contributions to my studies. I would especially like to thank Kohei Shimizu and Stacy LaGraize for their surgical and behavioral experiment training.

Thank you to my incredible family. I am grateful to my parents for always encouraging me to pursue my own path and goals in life. I would like to thank my loving wife Sumi whom has given me everything. Without your undying love and support I

iii

would not have been able to make it through nor would it have been as rewarding. Lastly, thank you to my beautiful daughter Amelie. You are my purpose. You have been and always will be my reason for why I work and strive so hard for success.

Table of Contents

1	Gen	eral Introduction	1
	1.1	Pain	1
	1.2	Animal models of persistent pain	3
	1.3	Trigeminal Nerve	5
	1.4	Glia activation and pro-inflammatory cytokines	9
	1.5	Descending modulation of pain	.11
	1.6	Rostral ventromedial medulla and descending facilitation	13
	1.7	Substance P and NK1 receptor.	.14
	1.8	Descending serotonin system	.16
	1.9	Dissertation Specific Aims	.17
2	Gen	eral materials and methods	.19
	2.1	Animals	.19
	2.2	Surgical preparation/cannulation	.19
	2.3	Behavioral testing	.21
	2.4	Histology	22
	2.5	Statistics	.22
3	IL-1	lβ activation of the ipsilateral Vi/Vc in contralateral hyperalgesia	.26
	3.1	Introduction	26
	3.2	Specific methods	.29
		3.2.1 IL-1ra pre-treatment.	.29
		3.2.2 IL-1ra post-treatment	.29
		3.2.3 Vc lesion	.29
	3.3	Results	30
		3.3.1 IL-1R inhibition after CFA-induced hyperalgesia attenuates contralatera	al 30
		3.3.2 IL-1R inhibition before CFA-induced hyperalgesia prevents the	.50
		3.3.3 Insilateral Vc input is necessary for the development of CEA induced	.32
	2 4	ipsilateral orofacial hyperalgesia	.34
	3.4	Discussion	.30

	4.1	Introduction	39
	4.2	Specific methods	40
		4.2.1 IL-1β-induced hyperalgesia	40
		4.2.2 CFA-induced hyperalgesia.	41
	4.3	Results	41
		4.3.1 Activation of RVM neurons is necessary for the development of	41
		4.3.2 NK1-R activation in the RVM is necessary for the development of	41
	1 1	contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia	44
	4.4	Discussion	40
5	Des	cending 5-HT activation of the contralateral Vi/Vc in contralateral	
hy	pera	lgesia	51
·	•	8	
	5.1	Introduction	51
	5.2	Specific methods	52
		5.2.1 shRNA	52
		5.2.2 Western blot	53
		5.2.3 Immunohistochemistry	54
		5.2.4 5-HT3 receptor antagonist	54
	5.3	Results	55
		5.3.1 5-HT depletion in the RVM inhibits the development of CFA-	
		induced contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia	55
		5.3.2 Vi/Vc 5-HT3 receptor activation is necessary for CFA-induced	
		contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia	59
		5.3.3 Fos protein expression is not significantly different between the	
		administration of control and Tph-2 shRNA in CFA-induced	
		hyperalgesic rats	62
	5.4	Discussion	64
6	Gen	eral Discussion	67
	6.1	Conclusion	67
	6.2	Ipsilateral STN	68
	6.3		70
	6.4	Contralateral STN	71
	6.5	Research implications	72
	6.6	Clinical implications	74
	6.7	Future directions	75
Re	efere	nces	77

List of Figures

Figure 2.1	Photographs of histological confirmation of injection and lesion	
	sites	.23
Figure 2.2	Map of histological confirmation of injection and lesion sites	24
Figure 3.1	CFA masseter injection and IL-1β intra-Vi/Vc microinjection	
	produces bilateral hyperalgesia	28
Figure 3.2	Inhibition of IL-1R in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc attenuates	
	contralateral hyperalgesia	31
Figure 3.3	Inhibition of IL-1R in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc prevents the	
	development of contralateral hyperalgesia	33
Figure 3.4	Vc activation is necessary for the development of ipsilateral	
	hyperalgesia	35
Figure 4.1	Intra-RVM ibotenic acid attenuated IL-1β-induced	
	contralateral hyperalgesia	43
Figure 4.2	Inhibition of NK1-R in the RVM attenuates inflammatory	
-	bilateral hyperalgesia	46
Figure 4.3	Inhibition of NK1-R in the RVM attenuates IL-1β-induced	
C	bilateral hyperalgesia	47
Figure 5.1	5-HT depletion in the RVM prevents the development of	
C	contralateral hyperalgesia	57
Figure 5.2	Vi/Vc 5-HT3 receptor inhibition attenuates contralateral	
C	hyperalgesia	60
Figure 5.3	5-HT depletion does not significantly reduce Fos protein expression in the	
C	contralateral ventral Vi/Vc.	63
Figure 6.1	Vi/Vc-RVM circuitry is necessary for the development of	
2	contralateral hyperalgesia	67

Abbreviations

- 5-HT Serotonin
- AMPAR alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor
- BDNF Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
- CCI chronic constriction-injury model
- CCK Cholecystokinin
- CFA complete Freund's adjuvant
- CNS central nervous system
- Cox-2 cyclooxygenase-2
- GPCR G-protein coupled receptor
- IBO ibotenic acid
- IL-1 β interleukin-1beta
- IL-1R IL-1 receptor
- IL-1ra IL-1receptor antagonist
- JNK c-jun N-terminal kinase
- MAPK mitogen-activated protein kinases
- NGC α gigantocellular reticular nucleus pars alpha
- NK1-R neurokinin-1 receptor
- NMDA N-methyl-D-aspartate
- NRM nucleus raphe magnus
- PAG periaqueductal grey
- PBN parabrachial nucleus
- PKC protein kinase C

- Po posterior thalamic nuclear group
- RNAi RNA interference
- RVM rostral ventromedial medulla
- Sm submedius nucleus of the thalamus
- STN Spinal Trigeminal Nucleus
- TMJD temporomandibular joint and muscle disorders
- TNF- α tumor necrosis factor- α
- Tph-2 tryptophan hydroxylase-2
- TRPV1 Transient receptor potential vanilloid 1
- Vc subnucleus caudalis of the STN
- Vi subnucleus interpolaris of the STN
- Vi/Vc subnucleus interpolaris/subnucleus caudalis transition zone
- Vo subnucleus oralis of the STN
- VPM ventroposteromedial thalamic nucleus

Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1 Pain

Pain is an unpleasant feeling or experience caused by an illness, injury, harmful, or potentially harmful stimulus to the body that is perceived through neurological processes and interpreted in the brain. In other words, pain is the transmission of neuronal stimulation to the brain and the emotional interpretation of what those signals mean. Pain can therefore be broken into three components: the sensory-discriminative, the affectivemotivational, and the cognitive component (Johansen et al. 2001; Auvray et al. 2010).

The sensory-discriminative component is the neurological circuits and mechanisms responsible for the transmission of the noxious stimulus in the periphery to the brain. It is the individual neuronal responses to a noxious stimulus and determines the sensory characteristics of the pain such as quality, intensity, duration, and location. The neural processes leading to sensory pain transmission are referred to as nociception.

The affective-motivational component is the emotional aspect of pain each person undergoes when encountering a noxious stimulus. It is this emotional aspect that determines the anxiety or fear associated with a stimulus and pain. The affectivemotivational component of pain has been shown to be associated with brain areas such as the prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, and the amygdala (Apkarian et al. 2005; Maeoka et al. 2012; Iwata et al. 2011; Bourgeais et al. 2001). It is possible that the involvement of the limbic system is what leads to emotional modulation of pain such as

stress-induced hyperalgesia and analgesia (Martenson et al. 2009; Yilmaz et al. 2010).

The cognitive component is the avoidance learning that follows the primary reaction to pain. The memory and meaning that results from the initial noxious stimulus may alter future behavior when encountered with similar stimuli. Similar to the affective-motivational component, the cognitive component of pain has been associated with the anterior cingulate cortex and the prefrontal cortex (Johansen et al. 2001; Neugebauer et al. 2009). Together, these three components make up the behavioral output and symptoms of pain.

Acute pain is a natural physiological process that occurs in animals and humans alike. It is a protective mechanism to prevent permanent tissue injury from occurring or to prevent further harm from occurring to an existing injury. Without pain, a child would not know to remove their hand from a hot stove. Without pain, athletes would not provide necessary protection to injured joints or muscles. However, acute pain could persist and transition into chronic pain.

Chronic pain is pain that persists over an extended period of time and in many cases, the assault from the noxious stimulus is gone and the protective function of pain is no longer necessary. Chronic pain is therefore pathologic. Chronic pain occurs in disorders such as temporomandibular joint and muscle disorders (TMJD), trigeminal neuralgia, fibromyalgia, and diabetic neuropathy. In such pain disorders, it is common for people to experience hyperalgesia, an exaggerated pain response to a stimulus that is normally painful (stubbing your toe when it is already broken), and/or allodynia, a painful response that results from a stimulus that is normally not painful (touching your skin after a sun burn).

Orofacial pain disorders involving deep tissues, such as muscle and joint, are debilitating disorders that diminish the quality of life and seriously inhibit the health of the patient by impairing a person's ability to eat and drink. Trigeminal pain also spreads to wide orofacial areas and is a serious clinical problem. Reports have shown that patients with unilateral myofascial TMJD experience bilateral hyperalgesia (Fernandez-de-las-Penas et al. 2009; Fernandez-de-las-Penas et al. 2010). Similar reports have shown that chronic neck pain can result in bilateral mechanical-pain sensitivity of the trigeminal regions (La Touché et al. 2010). Despite the prevalence of orofacial persistent pain within the population, few treatments exist for patients due to the lack of understanding of the mechanisms involved. Through better understanding of the pathways and mechanisms involved in orofacial deep tissue pain, novel therapies and strategies may be developed for orofacial pain and other widespread pain conditions.

1.2 Animal models of persistent pain

Over the years, many preclinical models of persistent pain have been developed. In these models, long-lasting pain hypersensitivity develops, resembling some features of chronic inflammatory or neuropathic pain. Neuropathic pain is persistent pain that originated from an injury or disease process that affects the somatosensory system. Most neuropathic pain studies include nerve-ligation (Markus et al. 1984; Seltzer et al. 1990; Kim and Chung 1992) or chronic constriction-injury models (CCI). CCI uses loosely constrictive ligatures to induce behavioral signs in animals that closely mimic the clinical

symptoms seen in humans (Bennett and Xie 1988). The CCI model was initially shown to produce hyperalgesia from 2 days to 2 months after injury with the peak severity around 2 weeks (Bennett and Xie 1988). This temporal feature of the CCI model has made this a good model for testing persistent pain and plasticity (Mayer et al. 1999; Vanelderen et al. 2010). CCI of the infraorbital nerve has been used to test neuropathic pain conditions in the trigeminal system (Imamura et al. 1997; Benoist et al. 1999; Martin et al. 2010; Michot et al. 2012).

The study of inflammatory pain conditions has utilized many compounds to induce an inflammatory response. The formalin test in the hind paw has been used in many studies of analgesic and anti-nociceptive mechanisms in the spinal cord (Dubuisson and Dennis 1977; Watkins et al. 1997; Zhao et al. 2006; Sawynok and Reid 2011; Dang et al. 2011). It is thought that with formalin application one can observe the difference in peripheral and central mechanisms based upon the phasic hyperalgesic response that animals produce (Hunskaar and Hole 1987). Mustard oil and capsaicin are irritants that have also been used to induce hyperalgesia. Mustard oil has been used in the study of visceral pain (Ji et al. 2012; Chatter et al. 2012; Pereira et al. 2012), TMJ (Chang et al. 2012), headaches (Edelmayer et al. 2012), itch-behavior (Ji 2012; Spradley et al. 2012), and tooth-pulp inflammation (Narita et al. 2012). Capsaicin has been used to test transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1)-mediated hyperalgesia in the spinal and trigeminal systems (Park et al. 2011; O'Neill et al. 2012; Hitomi et al. 2012). However, both mustard oil and capsaicin are more acute in nature and have only been shown to induce hyperalgesia for brief periods of time (LaMotte et al. 1991; Woolf et al. 1994; Mansikka and Pertovaara 1997).

One of the most commonly used inflammatory agents is complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA). CFA is an antigen-in-oil emulsion that contains heat-killed *mycobacterium tuberculosis* to induce an immune response in the injected tissue. CFA is administered subcutaneously or intramuscularly and has been widely used for studying pain processing in the spinal and trigeminal systems. CFA has been shown to induce profound inflammatory hyperalgesia that lasts for 1-3 weeks after injection into the TMJ or masseter muscle (Ren 1999; Ambalavanar et al. 2005; Shimizu et al. 2009a).

Hyperalgesia has also been induced using specific molecular agents to activate receptors that are involved in the facilitation of hyperalgesia. Cholecystokinin (CCK) and neurokinin-1 receptor (NK1-R) activation in the rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) and interleukin-1beta (IL-1 β) application in the spinal trigeminal nucleus have been shown to induce hyperalgesia (Heinricher and Neubert 2004; Wei et al. 2008; Shimizu et al. 2009a; LaGraize et al. 2010).

1.3 Trigeminal system

The primary sensory afferents that innervate the face are provided by the fifth cranial nerve, the trigeminal nerve. The trigeminal nerve has three primary divisions that branch at the trigeminal ganglion: the ophthalmic (V1), maxillary (V2), and the mandibular (V3) divisions. The ophthalmic division provides sensory afferents to the superior third of the face including the forehead, eyebrows, eyelids, nose, cornea, conjunctiva, and lacrimal gland. The maxillary division provides sensory afferents to the

middle third of the face including the lower eyelids, nose, upper lip, skin overlying the zygoma, palate, and upper dentition. The mandibular division provides sensory afferents to the inferior third of the face including the skin overlying the temporalis, the muscles of mastication, lower lip, buccal mucosa, lower dentition, and tongue. The primary afferent neurons involved in nociception of all three project and synapse with neurons within the Spinal Trigeminal Nucleus (STN) that spans the brainstem from the caudal pons to the medulla and continuous with the upper cervical spinal cord. The STN can be subdivided into three subnuclei: the oralis (Vo), interpolaris (Vi), and caudalis (Vc).

The Vo is the most rostral subnucleus of the STN and is generally thought to participate in craniofacial reflexes (Capra and Dessem 1992; Sessle 2000). The Vo participation in craniofacial reflexes is also thought to be involved in processing nociceptive input from the oral cavity that also projects to the Vo as a possible component of an oral reflex (Dallel et al. 1990; Takemura et al. 2006). The Vo has also been shown to receive afferent input from the pulp of molar teeth in rats (Marfurt and Turner 1984). Noxious tooth pulp stimulation produces neuroplastic changes in the Vo (Sugimoto et al. 1998; Park et al. 2001). It has also been shown that mechanical overload on the dentition produces increased reactive oxygen species production in the Vo (Viggiano et al. 2010).

The Vi has been shown to be associated with sensory neuron projections from the vibrissa pad of rats (Furuta et al. 2010). The Vi- thalamic posterior nuclei pathway, also called the paralemniscus pathway, processes tactile information from the vibrissa pad (Chiaia et al. 1991). The Vi was found to have somatotopic organization in which the rostral-caudal representation of the vibrissa pad is similarly oriented in the Vi (Ma 1991).

Neurons that project to the Vi are also involved in processing noxious stimulation to the TMJ and the masseter muscle (Ohya 1992; Ohya et al. 1993; Ro and Capra 1999).

The Vc has been well established as a major component in the processing of orofacial pain (Amano et al. 1986; Hu 1990; Hu et al. 1992; Iwata et al. 1999; Nomura et al. 2002; Ro et al. 2007, Chun and Ro 2010). Research has shown that the Vc is involved in the development and maintenance of inflammatory pain, neuropathic pain, joint pain, and migraines (Villa et al. 2010; Zhu et al. 2011; Daigo et al. 2012; Miyamoto et al. 2012; Chun et al. 2012; Myren et al. 2012) The Vc also shows somatotopic differentiation in the termination of the primary afferents. In general, the primary afferents from the more anterior portions of the face terminate in the more rostral portion of the Vc. Similarly, the primary afferents from the more posterior portions of the face terminate in the caudal portions of the Vc (Shigenaga et al. 1986). Specifically with the masseter muscle, the Vc receives afferent projection from both the overlying skin and the underlying deep tissue (Wang et al. 2006). Extensive research has since implicated neuropeptides, ATP, excitatory amino acids such as glutamate, and many more neurotransmitters and neuromodulators as being involved in Vc nociception (Takemura et al. 2006; Chiang et al 2011). These various neurotransmitters are released from primary afferent neurons after noxious stimulation. The signal is then relayed to the thalamus and other higher centers of the brain.

The caudal Vi and the rostral Vc overlap at the obex level to form a subdivision of the STN called the Vi/Vc transition zone. The dorsal portion of the Vi/Vc transition zone mainly involves the rostral end of the Vc while the ventral portion involves the caudal Vi. Neuronal activation in the Vi/Vc can occur after corneal and ocular stimulation (Bereiter

et al. 1994; Okamoto et al. 2009; Chang et al. 2010) and orofacial stimulation (Sugimoto et al. 1994; Carstens et al. 1995; Hathaway et al. 1995, Zhou et al. 1999). The mandibular structures, masseter muscle, and TMJ are represented at the dorsomedial portion of the Vi/Vc transition zone (Capra 1987; Takemura et al. 1987; Pfaller and Arvidsson 1988; Shigenaga et al. 1988) and the orbital afferents are represented in the ventral Vi/Vc transition zone (Pozo and Cervero 1993; Hirata et al. 1999).

While the Vc has been shown to be involved in the sensory-discriminative component of pain, the Vi/Vc is unique in that it is involved in the sensory-discriminative component and the affective-motivational component of pain (Ren and Dubner, 2011). The Vi/Vc transition zone receives input from deep tissue masseter muscle afferents (Wang et al. 2006). Ventral Vi/Vc transition zone second order neurons then project to the nucleus submedius of the thalamus, the parabrachial nucleus (Ikeda et al. 2003, Yoshida et al. 1991), and the RVM (Sugiyo et al. 2005). The RVM has been shown to have reciprocal connections to the Vi/Vc transition zone bilaterally through an attenuation of masseter hyperalgesia after Vi/Vc or RVM lesion (Sugiyo et al. 2005). Orofacial hyperalgesia models show that bilateral activation of the ventral Vi/Vc transition zone occurs with deep tissue inflammation (Imbe et al. 1999). Similarly, it has been shown that orofacial tissue injury results in increased glia activation and cytokine release in the Vi/Vc transition zone (Guo et al. 2007).

1.4 Glia activation and pro-inflammatory cytokines

Neuronal-glial interaction is emerging as an important mechanism in chronic pain. The glia of the central nervous system (CNS), including microglia and astrocytes, have been shown to be involved in neuropathic and inflammatory pain (Ren and Dubner 2008; Milligan and Watkins 2009; Inoue and Tsuda 2009; Gosselin et al. 2010; Zhuo et al. 2011; Chiang et al. 2011). The development of neuropathic hyperalgesia can be prevented by glia inhibition (Ledeboer et al. 2005; Wei et al. 2008). Research has found that microglia and astrocyte activation differs in time after injury. Microglia activation has been shown to occur hours-days after injury while astrocyte activation occurs from days-weeks after injury (Tanga et al. 2004, Hald et al. 2009).

Microglia are considered the immune cells of the CNS and are thought to act as sensors for pathological conditions of the CNS (Kreutzberg 1996). An increase in microglia activation has been shown to occur in models of nerve injury (Eriksson et al. 1993; Coyle 1998). Astrocytes are a diversely functioning group of cells that regulate many aspects of neuronal function (Haydon 2001; Gosselin et al. 2010). Astrocyte activation has been shown to be upregulated in neuropathic pain, inflammatory pain, and cancer pain (Stuesse et al. 2001; Zhang et al. 2005; Guo et al. 2007). One downstream intracellular glial mechanism involved in the development of persistent pain is the activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK). Research has shown that the p38 MAPK was activated in microglia following neuropathic pain (Jin et al. 2003; Tsuda et al. 2004) while inhibition of MAPK c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) in astrocytes was able to prevent the development of neuropathic hyperalgesia (Zhuang et al. 2006)

Another downstream mechanism of glia activation involves the upregulation and expression of proinflammatory cytokines. The inflammatory cytokines are among a group of chemical mediators that can be released by activated glia and have been implicated in persistent pain states (Watkins and Maier 2005). Interleukin-1, a prototype pro-inflammatory cytokine, is involved in a variety of diseases with pain components such as rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, osteoarthritis, multiple sclerosis and neuropathy (Dinarello 2004; Kawasaki et al. 2008; Ren and Torres 2009). Although peripheral cytokines including IL-1β are upregulated as a part of the immediate inflammatory responses to injury (Watanabe et al. 2005), cytokines are also upregulated in the spinal cord and brain (Raghavendra et al. 2004).

IL-1 β has been identified as a major inducer of cyclooxygenase-2 (Cox-2) in the CNS (Samad et al. 2001). IL-1 β can directly activate nociceptors to generate action potentials and induce pain hypersensitivity (Binshtok et al. 2008). Intrathecally administered IL-1 β produces enhanced dorsal horn nociceptive neuronal responses and behavioral hyperalgesia (Reeve et al. 2000; Falchi et al. 2001; Sung et al. 2005). Intracerebroventricular injection of IL-1 β has been shown to produce hyperalgesia in animals (Oka et al. 1993; Watkins et al. 1994). Pretreatment with the IL-1receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) completely abolished centrally IL-1-induced hyperalgesia (Oka et al. 1993).

Glia activation participates in trigeminal pain processing. Microglia activation in the Vc is associated with neuropathic pain (Shibuta et al. 2012). The development and maintenance of orofacial pain involves increased cytokine expression and glia activation in the Vc (Daigo et al. 2012). An elevation of IL-6 level in the brainstem including the

spinal trigeminal nucleus is found after trigeminal nerve injury in the rat (Anderson and Rao 2001).

We have recently shown that glia-cytokine-neuronal interactions in the Vi/Vc transition zone play an important role in orofacial hyperalgesia (Guo et al. 2007). CFA-induced masseter muscle inflammation produced increased expression of IL-1 β within the Vi/Vc transition zone. IL-1 β activation of IL-1 receptor (IL-1R) was shown to produce phosphorylation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor subunit GluNR1 (Guo et al. 2007). IL-1 β microinjection into the Vi/Vc transition zone also produced orofacial hyperalgesia bilaterally (Shimizu et al. 2009a). Similarly, masseter inflammatory hyperalgesia was attenuated following glia inhibition and anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10 (Shimizu et al. 2009b).

1.5 Descending modulation in pain

The foundational concept that current mechanisms of descending modulation were built upon is what we know as the "gate hypothesis" proposed by Melzack and Wall in 1965. It was hypothesized that primary afferent fibers and the projection neurons at which they terminate receive integrated processes that modify nociceptive signals prior to their reaching supraspinal structures. Since the gate hypothesis, research has shown that fibers descending from the supraspinal structures modulate ascending nociceptive signals. The modulation has been shown to be inhibitory or facilitatory in nature (Fields 2000; Porreca et al. 2002). Early research in descending modulation focused on the analgesic effects seen from descending inhibition (Oliveras et al. 1974; Akil et al. 1976). It was shown that direct stimulation and opioid injection into the periaqueductal grey (PAG) produced profound analgesia (Reynolds 1969; Mayer et al. 1971; Pert and Yaksh 1974; Jacquet and Lajtha 1976; Lewis and Gebhart 1977). Similar results were seen in the rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) (Mayer and Liebeskind 1974; Proudfit and Anderson 1975). It has since been established that the PAG-RVM-spinal cord circuit is a key modulatory pathway involved in hyperalgesia and analgesia (Fields et al. 2006). The classical descending pathway includes sites within the forebrain such as the hypothalamus, amygdala, prefrontal cortex, insula, and sensory cortex, which project to the PAG. The RVM receives direct inputs from the PAG and projects to the spinal cord (Behbehani and Fields 1979; Mason 1999).

One mechanism of PAG involvement in analgesia was shown through mu opioid receptor activation-induced analgesia (Smith et al. 1988). It was further demonstrated that the opioid-induced disinhibition, or loss of inhibition, of GABAergic neurons in the PAG resulted in analgesia (Christie et al. 2000). It has also been suggested that motor cortex stimulation leads to inhibition of GABA interneurons in the PAG and subsequent disinhibition of PAG neurons involved in descending inhibition (Pagano et al. 2012). Cannabinoid receptor activation in the PAG has also been shown to participate in antinociception (Martin et al. 1995; Lichtman et al. 1996). Cannabinoid activation can enhance morphine antinociception (Wilson et al. 2008).

The RVM is a midline structure that is composed of the nucleus raphe magnus, the nucleus gigantocellularis pars alpha, and nucleus reticularis paragigantocellularis

lateralis (Zagon 1995). Neurons within the RVM have been classified as ON-cells, OFFcells, and neutral cells based upon cell firing in relation to a tail flick seen after noxious stimulation (Fields et al. 1983). ON cells are defined as neurons that exhibit excitation after nociceptive stimulation. OFF cells are neurons that display inhibition in activity immediately prior to a nociceptive reflex (Fields et al. 1983). Neutral cells are considered the neurons of the RVM that are neither ON nor OFF cells (Barbaro et al. 1986). It is generally thought that OFF cells participate in the induction of descending inhibition while ON cells are involved in descending facilitation (Kaplan and Fields 1991, Heinricher et al. 1994). Morphine analgesia requires NMDA-mediated excitation of OFF cells while tail flick reflex activation of ON cells requires non-NMDA-mediated excitation (Heinricher et al. 2001).

1.6 Rostral ventromedial medulla and descending facilitation

There has been mounting evidence of RVM-mediated descending facilitation. Formalin-induced hyperalgesia and hyperalgesia from muscle inflammation are abolished with RVM lesions (Sugiyo et al. 2005, Wiertelak et al. 1997). The RVM is also necessary for the development of secondary hyperalgesia produced by mustard oil application (Urban and Gebhart 1999). Lidocaine microinjection into the RVM attenuated nerve ligation-induced allodynia (Pertovaara et al. 1996).

Within the RVM system, research has been conducted on various neurotransmitters and neuromodulators involved in the development and maintenance of hyperalgesia (Heinricher et al. 2009). Earlier research had shown that neurotensin was involved in the facilitatory modulation of pain in the RVM (Urban and Gebhart 1997). Cholecystokinin microinjection in the RVM has also been shown to participate in descending facilitation of neuropathic pain (Kovelowski et al. 2000). Similarly, IL-1 β and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) are involved in the enhancement of descending modulation when they are released and bind to their respective receptors in the RVM during a chronic constriction injury model (Wei et al. 2008; Roberts et al. 2009). NMDA receptor antagonist administration into the RVM attenuates neuropathic pain in rats (Wei and Pertovaara 1999). Furthermore, research has emphasized glutamate and GABA modulation by substance P and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) release in the RVM (Guo et al. 2006; Budai et al. 2007; Pacharinsak et al. 2008; Zhang et al. 2009).

Despite considerable research involving RVM descending modulation in pain, there is very little research about descending modulation involvement in the trigeminal system and its role in secondary orofacial hyperalgesia (hyperalgesia at a site outside the zone of injury). Our research has shown that lesions of the RVM with ibotenic acid result in the loss of secondary orofacial hyperalgesia at the contralateral site (Shimizu et al. 2009a). This evidence parallels previous results that showed RVM involvement in spinal cord bilateral inflammatory hyperalgesia (Tillu et al. 2008).

1.7 Substance P and NK1-R in the RVM

Substance P is an eleven amino acid neuropeptide that preferentially binds NK1-R

which is a G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) that activates a class of G-proteins called Gq. Gq activation leads to phospholipase C activation and activation of the inositol triphosphate signal transduction pathway. This results in increased intracellular calcium concentrations from endoplasmic reticulum release. Immunohistochemical localization shows moderate amounts of NK1-R in the RVM (Nakaya et al. 1994). Substance P has been shown to induce both analgesia (Hamity et al. 2010) and hyperalgesia (McCarson et al. 1994; Schafer et al. 1993). However, there is more recent evidence to suggest that substance P signaling in the RVM facilitates nociception (Cao et al. 1998; Rosen et al. 2004).

In the RVM, spinal cord projecting neurons express NK1-R (Khasabov et al. 2005; Pinto et al. 2008; LaGraize et al. 2012). NK1-R inhibition attenuates ON cell evoked excitatory responses and OFF cell evoked inhibitory responses from stimulation after prolonged inflammation (Khasabov et al. 2012). This activation of ON cells by NK1-R presumably leads to descending facilitation (Brink et al. 2012; Khasabov et al. 2012). Ablation of NK1-R containing RVM neurons reduces thermal and mechanical hypersensitivity in capsaicin and CFA–induced persistent pain models (Brink et al. 2009). Our laboratory has shown that NK1-R expression is increased in the RVM following hind paw inflammation. Further investigation reveals that substance P microinjection into the RVM induces thermal hyperalgesia in both left and right hind paws (Lagraize et al. 2012).

1.8 Descending serotonin system

Serotonin (5-HT) is a monoamine neurotransmitter that is synthesized from trypophan through hydroxylation by tryptophan hydroxylase-2 (Tph-2) in neurons. Seven families of 5-HT receptors are known, 5-HT(1-7), all of which are GPCRs, excluding the 5-HT3 receptor. The 5-HT3 receptor is a ligand gated non-specific cation channel that depolarizes the cell membrane when activated. Research has shown that 5-HT3 receptors are expressed ubiquitously throughout the peripheral and central nervous system of the rodent (Doucet et al. 2007).

Research has shown that the 5-HT system is involved in the descending facilitation of pain. Immunostaining for serotonin in the RVM shows that serotonin is primarily contained in neutral cells of the RVM (Potrebic et al. 1994). Intrathecal administration of a non-selective 5-HT receptor antagonist attenuated the facilitation of the tail flick reflex produced from RVM electrical stimulation (Zhuo and Gebhart 1991) and formalin-induced inflammation (Calejesan et al. 1998).

In the spinal cord, administration of the 5-HT3 receptor antagonist, ondansetron, inhibits evoked responses of dorsal horn neurons after noxious stimulation (Rahman et al. 2009) and intra-RVM CCK-induced mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia (Dogrul et al. 2009). Similarly, intrathecal administration of ondansetron attenuates formalin-induced hindpaw flinching and spinal ERK activation (Svensson et al. 2006). Interaction of facilitatory descending neurons in the RVM and spinal 5-HT3 receptors enhance the response of dorsal horn neurons to noxious stimulation (Suzuki et al. 2002). Ablation of serotonergic neurons attenuates mechanical and thermal hindpaw withdrawal in rats

under neuropathic pain conditions (Rahman et al. 2006). It was further shown that serotonergic neurons of the RVM are involved in descending facilitation through the depletion of endogenous 5-HT while maintaining the viability and function of serotonergic neurons (Wei et al. 2010).

These findings suggest that the 5-HT/5-HT3 receptor complex is involved in the descending facilitation of pain at the spinal cord. It is possible that this mechanism of descending facilitation in the spinal cord may also be seen in the trigeminal system.

1.9 Dissertation aims

Not much is known about the mechanisms involved in the development and maintenance of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia. Possibilities of contralateral hyperalgesia were first seen with bilateral Fos expression in the Vi/Vc transition zone after unilateral orofacial noxious stimulation including intra-masseter CFA injection (Imbe et al. 1999; Strassman et al. 1993). The bilateral Fos expression was not seen in the Vc (Ikeda et al. 2003). We found that unilateral masseter injury resulted in bilateral hyperalgesia and allodynia (Shimizu et al. 2009b). We also found secondary hyperalgesia at the contralateral site after unilateral intra-Vi/Vc IL-1β microinjection. The Vi/Vc transition zone has been shown to have bilateral reciprocal connections to the RVM (Sugiyo et al. 2005). This suggests that IL-1β release in the Vi/Vc and the Vi/Vc-RVM circuit may be necessary for the development of bilateral hyperalgesia.

Substance P microinjection into the RVM induces thermal hyperalgesia in both

left and right hind paws (LaGraize et al. 2012). Attenuation of persistent pain after 5-HT depletion from descending serotonergic neurons of the RVM suggest that the 5-HT/5-HT3 receptor complex is involved in the descending facilitation of pain at the spinal cord (Wei et al. 2010).

Collectively, we hypothesize that the development of contralateral deep tissue orofacial hyperalgesia after unilateral inflammation involves neuron-glial interactions in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc transition zone that activates the substance P/NK1-R complex in the RVM and activates RVM 5-HT containing neurons terminating in the contralateral Vi/Vc transition zone.

In Specific Aim 1, we will test the hypothesis that ipsilateral IL-1β release in the Vi/Vc transition zone is necessary for the development of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia after CFA-induced inflammation.

In Specific Aim 2, we will test the hypothesis that NK1-R-mediated activation of RVM neurons is necessary for the development of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia after injury.

In Specific Aim 3, we will test the hypothesis that 5-HT expression in the RVM and activation of 5-HT3 receptors in the contralateral Vi/Vc transition zone facilitates the development of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia.

These results will help us understand neural mechanisms involved in secondary hyperalgesia and contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia.

Chapter 2: General materials and methods

The following materials and methods described were used throughout all subsequent chapters. A detailed explanation of materials and methods specific to individual chapters will be explained in chapter sections "Specific materials and methods."

2.1 Animals

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (n=391 total) were used for all experiments. Cannulation experiments utilized rats weighing 250-300g (Harlan) and the RNAi experiments utilized rats weighing 200-250g (Harlan). Female rats were excluded to avoid complications of the estrous cycle. Rats were provided food and water *ad libitum* on a 12-hour light/dark schedule. The experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Maryland Dental School.

2.2. Surgical preparation/cannulation

Rats were anesthetized using 50 mg/kg of pentobarbital sodium (i.p) and 2-3% isoflurane inhalation in a 30/70% oxygen/nitrogen gas mixture. Rats were placed in a stereotaxic device (Kopf Instruments, Model 900). A midline incision was made in the

scalp after debridement and sterilization of the surgical field with iodine wash. For administration of drugs via microinjection, guide cannulae (C315G, 26 gauge, Plastics One, Roanoke, VA) were implanted and cemented into the skull. A midline opening was made in the skull using a dental drill and a guide cannula was lowered into the ventral Vi/Vc transition zone and/or RVM by referring to the rat brain atlas (Paxinos and Watson 2005). The RVM is termed for the collective structures that consist of the midline nucleus raphe magnus (NRM) and the adjacent gigantocellular reticular nucleus pars alpha (NGC α). The guide cannula was then secured with cranioplastic cement. The wounds were cleaned with antiseptic solution and closed with 4-0 silk sutures. Animals were allowed to recover for 1 week before further experimentation.

Rats received unilateral intra-masseter muscle injections of the inflammatory agent, complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA, 0.05ml; 1:1 oil/saline) to produce hyperalgesia. IL-1 β -induced hyperalgesic rats received a microinjection of recombinant rat IL-1 β into the Vi/Vc through a 33-gauge injection cannula (C315I, Plastic One) inserted through the tip of the guide cannula. The injection cannula was connected to a 1-µl Hamilton syringe by polyethylene-10 tubing. All injections (0.5 µl) were performed by delivering drug or vehicle solutions slowly over a 2-minute period. Recombinant rat IL-1 β was microinjected into the ipsilateral Vi/Vc transition zone.

The drugs used include: IL-1 β and IL-1ra (PeproTech; Rocky Hill, NJ), L-733,060, RP67580, ibotenic acid, and Y-25130 (Tocris Bioscience, Ellisville, MO). IL-1ra was reconstituted in deionized water and injected at varying concentrations into the ipsilateral Vi/Vc. The Neurokinin-1 receptor antagonists L-733,060 and RP67580 were microinjected into the RVM. IL-1 β and L-733,060 were reconstituted in deionized water while RP67580 was reconstituted in DMSO. Ibotenic acid was reconstituted in deionized water and microinjected into the RVM as well. The 5-HT3 receptor antagonist, Y-25130, was reconstituted in deionized water. Vehicle and sham surgery control groups were performed for all experiments.

2.3 Behavioral Testing

Behavioral tests were conducted under blind conditions as described elsewhere (Ren 1999). A series of calibrated von Frey filaments were applied to the skin above the masseter muscle. Filaments were applied to the masseter muscle in increasing forces. Each von Frey filament was applied 5 times at intervals of a few seconds. A positive response was regarded as an active withdrawal of the head from the probing filament. The response frequencies [(number of responses/number of stimuli) X100%] to a range of von Frey filament forces were determined and a stimulus-response (S-R) curve plotted. After a non-linear regression analysis (GraphPad Prism), an EF₅₀ value, defined as the von Frey filament force (g) that produces a 50% response frequency, was derived from the S-R curve. We used EF₅₀ values as a measure of mechanical sensitivity. A leftward shift of the S-R curve, resulting in a reduction of EF₅₀, occurred after inflammation (Sugiyo et al. 2005). This shift of the curve suggests the presence of mechanical hyperalgesia and allodynia since there was an increase in response to suprathreshold stimuli and a decreased response threshold for nocifensive behavior.

2.4 Histology

Following behavioral testing, all rats were deeply anesthetized with pentobarbital sodium (100 mg/kg) and transcardially perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer at pH 7.4. The brain and brain stem was removed and post-fixed in 4% formaldehyde for 24 hours before being transferred to 30% sucrose (w/v) for cryoprotection. 30 µm sections of the RVM or Vi/Vc were mounted on slides and stained with cresyl violet to confirm the accuracy of the cannula placement and injection site. Injections not located in the area of interest were excluded from experimental groups or used as an off target control (Figure 2.1; Figure 2.2).

2.5 Statistics

Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. Statistical comparisons were made by twoway ANOVA and ANOVA with repeated measures and post hoc comparisons (Neuman-Keuls). P<0.05 was considered significant. **Figure 2.1:** Photographs of histological confirmation of injection and lesion sites. The brain and brainstem of rats were removed after behavioral testing to confirm the site of injection. **A.** A representative photograph of the injection site in the Vi/Vc. **B.** The ibotenic acid lesion of the Vc resulted in necrotic tissue that was unable to be kept intact during the slice and staining procedure. **C.** A representative photograph of the injection site in the RVM. **D.** The ibotenic acid lesion of the RVM shows decreased cellular staining ventral to the injection site.


Figure 2.2: Map of histological confirmation of injection and lesion sites.

All injections and lesions were determined and mapped on Vi/Vc and RVM images. **A.** Reconstruction of all injections given into the Vi/Vc. The slices are categorized based upon the drug administered. **B.** Reconstruction of the ibotenic acid lesions in the Vc. The solid blue line of the ibotenic acid lesion represents the photograph shown in Figure 2.1B. **C.** Reconstruction of all injections given into the RVM. The solid blue line of the ibotenic acid lesion represents the photograph shown in Figure 2.1D. Black circles represent injection sites accurately placed within the area of interest. Green circles represent injections outside the area of interest that did produce an effect. Red circles represent injections outside the area of interest that did not produce an effect. Blue dotted lines represent the extent of the ibotenic acid lesions.



Chapter 3: IL-1β activation of the ipsilateral Vi/Vc in contralateral hyperalgesia

3.1 Introduction

Traditionally, orofacial pain research has focused on the activation of the subnucleus caudalis (Vc) of the spinal trigeminal nucleus (STN) (Dubner and Bennett 1983; Sessle 2000; Dubner and Ren 2004). Research has shown that trafficking and activation of the GluR2 and GluR3 subunits of the alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (AMPAR) in the Vc are involved in orofacial pain (Miyamoto et al. 2011; Miyamoto et al. 2012). Microglia and astrocyte activation in the Vc have also been shown to be involved in orofacial pain mechanisms (Okada-Ogawa et al. 2009; Shibuta et al. 2012). Research has shown that glia activation of MAPK signaling cascades as well as increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the Vc are involved in the orofacial hyperalgesia (Piao et al. 2006; Guo et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2010; Takahashi et al. 2011).

Despite the emphasis of orofacial pain research in the Vc, the Vi/Vc of the STN has been more recently shown to be involved in mechanisms of deep tissue trigeminal pain (Imbe et al. 1999; Zhou et al. 1999; Ro et al. 2003; Ren and Dubner 2011). Expression of Fos protein is observed in the Vi/Vc transition zone after various noxious stimuli applied to the TMJ and masseter muscle (Hathaway et al. 1995; Ro et al. 2003). Our previous studies showed that complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA)-induced masseter inflammation results in bilateral expression of Fos protein in the Vi/Vc transition zone and ipsilateral expression of Fos protein in the Vc. The same study showed that CFAinduced inflammatory hyperalgesia was attenuated following ibotenic acid lesions in the Vi/Vc transition zone (Sugiyo et al. 2005).

Glia activation and increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the Vi/Vc transition zone have also been shown to participate in orofacial hyperalgesia (Guo et al. 2007). We have also shown that CFA-induced masseter inflammation leads to increased expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-1 β in astrocytes of the Vi/Vc transition zone. Furthermore, this increase in Vi/Vc IL-1 β expression results in an IL-1 R-dependent upregulation of NMDA receptor activation (Guo et al. 2007). We have also found that CFA-induced masseter inflammation and intra-Vi/Vc microinjection of IL-1 β induces bilateral orofacial hyperalgesia in rats (Figure 3.1). However, contralateral hyperalgesia is not seen with IL-1 β microinjection into the Vc.

Thus, we hypothesize that CFA-induced masseter inflammation results in contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia via IL-1 β activation of the ipsilateral Vi/Vc transition zone.

Figure 3.1: CFA masseter injection and IL-1β intra-Vi/Vc microinjection

produces bilateral hyperalgesia. Rats injected with CFA into the masseter muscle resulted in bilateral hyperalgesia 3 hours to 3 days after CFA injection (A,B). Intra-Vi/Vc microinjection of IL-1 β produced bilateral hyperalgesia 30 minutes to 1 hour after IL-1 β was injected (C, D).



3.2 Specific methods

3.2.1 IL-1ra pre-treatment

IL-1ra (PeproTech; Rocky Hill, NJ) was reconstituted in deionized water and injected at varying concentrations into the ipsilateral Vi/Vc 7 days after cannula surgery. CFA (0.05ml; 1:1 oil/saline) was injected into the ipsilateral masseter muscle 15 minutes after the IL-1ra injection. Mechanical sensitivity was tested 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 hours after CFA injection. Baseline mechanical sensitivity was tested before IL-1ra and CFA injection.

3.2.2 IL-1ra post-treatment

CFA (0.05ml; 1:1 oil/saline) was injected into the ipsilateral masseter muscle 7 days after cannula surgery. IL-1ra was injected at varying concentrations into the ipsilateral Vi/Vc 24 hours after CFA injection. Mechanical sensitivity was tested 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 hours after IL-1ra injection. Baseline mechanical sensitivity was tested before CFA injection and between CFA and IL-1ra injections.

3.2.3 Vc lesion

Vc lesions were made using $1-\mu g/0.5-\mu l$ of ibotenic acid (Tocris Bioscience) injected into the Vc unilaterally. Rats were anesthetized and a $1-\mu l$ Hamilton syringe was place between C1-C2 vertebrae and injected into the ipsilateral Vc over a 2-minute period. The rats were allowed to heal over 5-7 days. CFA was injected into the ipsilateral side and behavioral testing was performed after 24 hours.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 IL-1R inhibition after CFA-induced hyperalgesia attenuates contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia

Our previous studies have shown that CFA injection into the masseter muscle and IL-1 β injections into the Vi/Vc transition zone generate bilateral mechanical hyperalgesia as seen by the significant decreases in EF₅₀ values (Shimizu et al. 2009a; Shimizu et al. 2009b). We have also shown that CFA-induced masseter muscle injection results in increased IL-1 β expression in Vi/Vc astrocytes (Guo et al. 2007). To test whether activation of IL-1R in the Vi/Vc is involved in CFA-induced contralateral hyperalgesia, an IL-1R antagonist (IL-1ra) was injected.

In the post-treatment experiment, microinjection of IL-1ra into the ipsilateral Vi/Vc was done 24 hours after injection of CFA into the masseter muscle. Treatment of IL-1ra after CFA-induced hyperalgesia has been established to help determine the role of IL-1R activation in the maintenance of contralateral hyperalgesia. Mechanical sensitivity was measured 0.5-5 hours after IL-1ra microinjection (Figure 3.2A). IL-1ra (5 nmol, n=6) attenuated contralateral hyperalgesia 1 hour after microinjection as compared to saline-treated rats (Figure 3.2B), however, IL-1ra did not affect ipsilateral hyperalgesia (Figure 3.2C). Sham surgery control rats did not show signs of hyperalgesia. Similarly, saline control groups for CFA injections (saline+saline; saline+IL-1ra) did not produce hyperalgesia (results not shown). These results suggest that IL-1R activation in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc is involved in the maintenance of CFA-induced contralateral hyperalgesia.

Figure 3.2: Inhibition of IL-1R in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc attenuates contralateral hyperalgesia. Contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia is attenuated by IL-1R inhibition in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc. **A.** Post-treatment experiment sequence: CFA (0.05 ml; 1:1 oil/saline) was injected unilaterally into the masseter muscle 24 hours prior to IL-1ra microinjection into the ipsilateral Vi/Vc (0.5ml). **B, C.** Post-treatment of IL-1ra attenuated CFA-induced contralateral hyperalgesia 1 hour after microinjection as compared to saline treated rats. IL-1ra did not attenuate ipsilateral hyperalgesia. *: IL-1ra (5 nmol) vs saline. *: p<0.05; (ANOVA with repeated measures and Student Neuman-Keuls post-hoc test).



3.3.2 IL-1R inhibition before CFA-induced hyperalgesia prevents the development of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia

Treatment of IL-1ra before intra-masseter muscle CFA injection was performed to determine the role of IL-1R activation in the development of contralateral hyperalgesia. In the pre-treatment experiments, rats were injected with IL-1ra 15 minutes before CFA masseter muscle injection. Mechanical sensitivity was measured 1-5 hours after CFA injection (Figure 3.3A). IL-1ra (5 nmol, n=6) prevented the development of contralateral hyperalgesia 1-3 hours after CFA injection as compared to saline treated rats (Figure 3.3B). Pre-treatment of IL-1ra did not attenuate ipsilateral hyperalgesia (Figure 3.3C). Similar to the post-treatment experiment, sham surgery control and saline control groups for CFA injections (saline+saline; saline+IL-1ra) did not produce hyperalgesia (results not shown). These results suggest that IL-1R activation in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc is also involved in the development of contralateral hyperalgesia.

Figure 3.3: Inhibition of IL-1R in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc prevents the development of contralateral hyperalgesia. The development of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia is prevented by IL-1R inhibition in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc. **A.** Pre-treatment experiment sequence: CFA (0.05 ml; 1:1 oil/saline) was injected unilaterally into the masseter muscle 15 min after IL-1ra microinjection into the ipsilateral Vi/Vc (0.5 ml). **B, C.** Pre-treatment of IL-1ra prevented the development of CFA-induced contralateral hyperalgesia 1-3 hours after CFA injection as compared to saline treated rats. IL-1ra did not attenuate ipsilateral hyperalgesia. *: IL-1ra (5 nmol) vs saline. *: p<0.05; **: p<0.01; ***: p<0.001 (ANOVA with repeated measures and Student Neuman-Keuls post-hoc test).



3.3.3 Ipsilateral Vc input is necessary for the development of CFA-induced ipsilateral orofacial hyperalgesia

The present data provide evidence that ipsilateral Vi/Vc was necessary for contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia. Specifically, our data showed that injection of IL-1ra into the Vi/Vc did not affect the ipsilateral hyperalgesia. Our previous studies have shown also that afferent nociceptive input into the Vc is critical for the development of ipsilateral hyperalgesia but does not affect contralateral hyperalgesia (Shimizu et al. 2009b). This suggests that the ipsilateral and contralateral hyperalgesia may be transmitted through different circuits in the trigeminal system.

To test this, a lesion was made in the ipsilateral Vc using 6.3 nmol of the excitotoxin, ibotenic acid. Ibotenic acid induces glutamate-mediated toxicity to neuron cell bodies through activation of glutamate receptors. An ipsilateral Vc lesion prior to CFA injection inhibited the development of ipsilateral hyperalgesia (Figure 3.4B) but did not inhibit contralateral hyperalgesia development (Figure 3.4A). This suggests that ipsilateral Vc input is primarily involved in the development of ipsilateral hyperalgesia but not for the development of hyperalgesia contralateral to the site of injury.

Figure 3.4: Vc activation is necessary for the development of ipsilateral

hyperalgesia. Lesion of the ipsilateral Vc prior to CFA injection into the master muscle prevents the development of ipsilateral hyperalgesia. **A.** Ibotenic Acid (6.3 nmol) was administered to unilaterally to the Vc between vertebrae C1-C2, 7 days prior to ipsilateral CFA injection into the masseter muscle. **B.** Lesion of the ipsilateral Vc did not prevent the development of contralateral hyperalgesia. **C.** However, lesion of the ipsilateral Vc did prevent the development of ipsilateral hyperalgesia. *: Ibotenic Acid (6.3 nmol) vs. saline, p<0.05; **: p<0.01; ***: p<0.001 (ANOVA with repeated measures and Student Neuman-Keuls post-hoc test).



3.4 Discussion

In our present study, inhibition of IL-1R activation in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc before CFA treatment prevented the development of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia. Similarly, inhibition of IL-1R activation in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc after CFA treatment resulted in an attenuation of the contralateral hyperalgesia. These results support the view that activation of IL-1R in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc is involved in the development and maintenance of deep tissue orofacial pain on the contralateral site.

Contralateral hyperalgesia has been seen with both unilateral CFA masseter muscle injection and unilateral intra-Vi/Vc IL-1 β microinjection (Shimizu et al. 2009a). This contralateral effect also appears to be unique to the Vi/Vc transition zone. Previous research has shown that microinjection of IL-1 β into the Vc does not produce contralateral hyperalgesia (Shimizu et al. 2009b). Similarly, rats injected with CFA into the hind paw do not develop contralateral hyperalgesia (LaGraize et al. 2010; Bai et al. 2010).

Previous studies also showed that masseter muscle inflammation produces increased IL-1 β expression in Vi/Vc astroglia (Guo et al. 2007). This increased IL-1 β expression was shown to produce IL-1R-dependent activation of the protein kinase-C signaling cascade. This resulted in GluNR1 subunit phosphorylation of the NMDA receptor and ultimately led to behavioral hyperalgesia (Guo et al. 2007).

An interesting observation is that ipsilateral Vi/Vc IL-1ra does not affect ipsilateral hyperalgesia. Conversely, lesions in the ipsilateral Vc (Figure 3.4) do not affect contralateral hyperalgesia but does prevent the development of ipsilateral

hyperalgesia. These results suggest that the contralateral hyperalgesia is predominantly mediated through the ipsilateral Vi/Vc. These results also suggest that the development of ipsilateral hyperalgesia is predominantly mediated through the ipsilateral Vc. One possible explanation is that ipsilateral hyperalgesia is dominated by hyperexcitability and central sensitization in the Vc driven by peripheral input from the site of injury. We have previously shown that the Vc receives afferent input from the overlying skin and deep tissue of the masseter muscle (Wang et al. 2006). Research has shown that the Vc neurons directly project to various brain structures including the parabrachial nucleus (PBN) (Cechetto et al. 1985; Feil and Herbert 1995), the ventroposteromedial thalamic nucleus (VPM) and posterior thalamic nuclear group (Po) (Guy et al. 2005). While the VPM is the classic thalamic structure involved in the trigeminothalamic pathway (Dubner and Bennett 1983), PBN has also been associated with nociception (Bourgeais et al. 2001). While we cannot rule out the involvement of ipsilateral Vi/Vc IL-1R activation in the development of ipsilateral hyperalgesia, it appears that it is not the predominant mechanism.

Lesions to the caudal Vc also suggest that ipsilateral Vc activation is not the predominant mechanism involved in the development of contralateral hyperalgesia. However, we cannot completely rule out the involvement of Vc. One potential pitfall of the Vc lesion experiment is the location and extent of the lesion within the Vc. The Vc is generally thought to descend from just caudal of the obex down to the level of C1-C2. This means that the ibotenic acid injection given at C1-C2 resulted in lesions to the caudal Vc and left the rostral Vc intact. Considering that masseter muscle afferents have been shown to project through the entirety of the medullary dorsal horn (Dessem et al.

2007), it is possible that the rostral Vc may play a part in the development of contralateral hyperalgesia.

Chapter 4: RVM involvement in contralateral hyperalgesia

4.1 Introduction

The rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) is a midline site that is critical in the descending modulation of pain (Ren and Dubner 2002; Millan 2002). A critical pathway in descending modulation involves the periaqueductal grey (PAG)-RVM circuit. Neurons from areas such as the anterior cingulate cortex, amygdala, and hypothalamus descend and synapse in the PAG (Heinricher et al. 2009). Neurons of the PAG then descend and synapse in the RVM. The RVM sends projecting neurons to the spinal and medullary dorsal horn to modulate ascending sensory signals (Fields 2000). This descending modulation from the RVM can be facilitatory and inhibitory (Porreca et al. 2002; Ren and Dubner 2002). Descending facilitation from the RVM has been shown to be involved in formalin-induced hyperalgesia (Wiertelak et al. 1997), neuropathic hyperalgesia (Leong et al. 2011; Zapata et al. 2012), and deep tissue injury (Wei et al. 2010).

It has previously been shown that CFA-induced hyperalgesia was attenuated with ibotenic acid lesions in the RVM (Sugiyo et al 2005). Our previous studies have also shown that bilateral reciprocal connections exist from the Vi/Vc to the RVM (Sugiyo et al. 2005). This suggests that activation of RVM neurons may be necessary for the development of contralateral hyperalgesia after CFA-induced masseter muscle inflammation. It is possible that neuronal activation in the RVM produces a descending facilitatory signal to the contralateral side.

Thus, we hypothesize that neuronal activation in the RVM is necessary for the development of CFA-induced contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia.

4.2 Specific Methods

4.2.1 IL-1 β -induced hyperalgesia

Following the "Surgical preparation/cannulation" section in Chapter 2, all rats received guide cannulae implanted in the RVM and the ipsilateral Vi/Vc. Rats were allowed to heal for 5-7 days before further manipulation.

In the Vc lesion experiment, the excitotoxin ibotenic acid was administered into the RVM to produce a lesion of the RVM cell bodies. Ibotenic acid was microinjected 10-15 minutes before IL-1 β microinjection. IL-1 β (PeproTech; Rocky Hill, NJ) was injected into the Vi/Vc and mechanical sensitivity was measured 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 3, 4, 4.5, and 5 hours after IL-1 β injection. Baseline mechanical sensitivity was tested before ibotenic acid administration.

NK1-R antagonists, L-733,060 and RP67580 (Tocris Bioscience; Ellisville, MO), were administered to the RVM 15 minutes after IL-1 β administration to the ipsilateral Vi/Vc. Mechanical sensitivity was tested 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 hours after L-733,060 and RP67580 injection. Baseline mechanical sensitivity was tested before IL-1 β microinjection.

4.2.2 CFA-induced hyperalgesia

For CFA-induced hyperalgesia, a single cannula is implanted into the RVM as described in the "Surgical preparation/cannulation" section of Chapter 2. CFA (0.05ml; 1:1 oil/saline) is injected into the ipsilateral masseter muscle 5-7 days after cannula implantation. 24 hours after CFA injection, NK1-R antagonists L-733,060 and RP67580 were injected in to the RVM. Mechanical sensitivity was tested 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 hours after L-733,060 and RP67580 microinjection. Baseline mechanical sensitivity was tested before CFA injection and before L-733,060 and RP67580 microinjection.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Activation of RVM neurons is necessary for the development of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia

The RVM is a midline structure that lacks laterality. It was previously shown that there are reciprocal facilitatory interactions between Vi/Vc and RVM pain modulatory circuitry (Sugiyo et al. 2005). The same study also showed that CFA-induced bilateral hyperalgesia was prevented with lesions to the RVM and the Vi/Vc. Thus, we tested the hypothesis that IL-1β-induced bilateral hyperalgesia was dependent on RVM and Vi/Vc interactions. To evaluate the role of RVM descending input in orofacial hyperalgesia, a soma-selective neurotoxin ibotenic acid was microinjected into the RVM to produce focal neural lesions and its effect on IL-1β-induced hyperalgesia was assessed. The lesions were localized in RVM, mainly in nucleus raphe magnus (NRM) and the

gigantocellular reticular nucleus pars alpha (NGC α). In rats receiving ibotenic acid injections, the IL-1 β -induced hyperalgesia was abolished on the contralateral site as compared to saline-treated rats (Figure 4.1).

Figure 4.1: Intra-RVM ibotenic acid attenuated IL-1β-induced contralateral

hyperalgesia. A. Ten-min before a unilateral injection of IL-1β into the Vi/Vc transition zone, ibotenic acid (IBO) (2 μg/0.2 μl, n=5) was microinjected into the RVM to produce excitotoxic neuronal lesions in RVM. Saline was injected as a vehicle control. The open circles indicate the injection sites for saline. **B**. Compared to saline-injected rats, RVM excitotoxic lesions prevented the development of contralateral hyperalgesia after injection of IL-1β into the Vi/Vc transition zone. **C**. Compared to saline control, there was a slight further decrease in EF50s on the ipsilateral site in the IBO-treated rats. ##, p<0.01, ###, p<0.001, saline vs. IBO (ANOVA with repeated measures and post-hoc test).



4.3.2 NK1-R activation in the RVM is necessary for the development of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia

Research has shown that the neuropeptide substance P is involved in nociception and hyperalgesia in the spinal cord (Schafer et al. 1993; McCarson et al. 1994; Suzuki et al. 2002). Evidence also suggests that substance P is involved in descending facilitation of pain in the RVM (Budai et al. 2007; Brink et al. 2012). Immunohistochemical localization shows moderate amounts of the substance P receptor, neurokinin-1 receptor (NK1-R), in the RVM (Maeno et al. 1993; Nakaya et al. 1994; Saffroy et al. 2000). Furthermore, substance P activation of NK1-R in the RVM contributes to CFA-induced hyperalgesia and capsaicin induced hyperalgesia (Pacharinsak et al. 2008; Hamity et al. 2010; LaGraize et al. 2010).

NK1-R activation in the RVM has been shown to contribute to capsaicin-induced hyperalgesia (Pacharinsak et al. 2008). Similarly, it has been shown that NK1-R activation in the RVM is involved in mediating behavioral hyperalgesia after hind paw inflammation (LaGraize et al. 2010). To test whether NK1-R activation in the RVM was involved in orofacial contralateral hyperalgesia, two NK1-R antagonists, RP67580 and L-733,060 were microinjected into the RVM.

CFA was injected into the masseter muscle 24 hours before microinjection of NK1-R antagonist (Figure 4.2A). Both NK1-R antagonists attenuated CFA-induced bilateral hyperalgesia in a dose dependent manner. Attenuation of hyperalgesia was seen 0.5-5 hours post-injection with the highest dose of RP67580 (11.4 nmol; n=6) on the contralateral side (Figure 4.2B) and ipsilateral side (Figure 4.2C) when compared to vehicle control. Similar results were observed using the NK1-R antagonist L-733,060

(Figure 4.2D, E).

Inhibition of NK1-R activation in the RVM attenuated IL-1 β (160 fmol) – induced bilateral orofacial hyperalgesia. Microinjection of RP67580 and L-733,060 into the RVM 15 minutes after IL-1 β injection into the Vi/Vc (Figure 4.3A) resulted in a dose-dependent attenuation of bilateral hyperalgesia. Application of RP67580 (11.4 nmol; n=5) resulted in attenuation of hyperalgesia 0.5-4 hours post-injection on the contralateral side (Figure 4.3B) and ipsilateral side (Figure 4.3C). Similar results were observed using NK1-R antagonist L-733,060 (Figure 4.3D, E). Microinjection of vehicle controls into the RVM did not attenuate hyperalgesia. CFA injection control and sham surgery controls did not produce hyperalgesia. These results suggest that contralateral and ipsilateral orofacial hyperalgesia are mediated by NK1-R activation in the RVM.

Figure 4.2: Inhibition of NK1-R in the RVM attenuates inflammatory bilateral

hyperalgesia. Experiment sequence (A) shows CFA (0.05 ml; 1:1 oil/saline) injection into the masseter muscle 24 hours prior to RP67580 (B, C) and L-733,060 (D, E) microinjection into the RVM (0.5 ml). +: lowest dose vs. saline. #: middle dose vs. saline. *: highest dose vs. saline. +,#,*: p<0.05; ++,##,**: p<0.01; +++,###,***: p<0.001 (ANOVA with repeated measures and Student Neuman-Keuls post-hoc test).



Figure 4.3: Inhibition of NK1-R in the RVM attenuates IL-1 β -induced bilateral hyperalgesia. Experiment sequence (A) shows IL-1 β (160 fmol) microinjection into the Vi/Vc 15 minutes before RP67580 (B, C) and L-733,060 (D, E) microinjection into the RVM (0.5 ml). +: lowest dose vs. saline. #: middle dose vs. saline. *: highest dose vs. saline. +,#,*: p<0.05; ++,##,**: p<0.01; +++,###,**: p<0.001 (ANOVA with repeated measures and Student Neuman-Keuls post-hoc test).

Α 30 5-7 15 ipsilateral /Vc and RVI Assess days ipsilateral **RVM NK1-R** min min mechanical Vi/Vc IL-1β antagonist cannula sensitivity С В Contralateral Ipsilateral 100 = 100 뮰 EF₅₀ (g) EF₅₀ (g) Ò 10 -10 --O- IL-1β + saline (n=6) -Δ- IL-1β + RP67580 (11.4 nmol) (n=5) -D- IL-1β + RP67580 (2.3 nmol) (n=5) -<-- IL-1β + RP67580 (0.5 nmol) (n=5) 1-1 **pre** IL-1β 1.0 2.0 3.0 4.0 5.0 pre 1.0 2.0 3.0 4.0 5.0 İL-1β Time post-IL-1 β (h) Time post-IL-1 β (h) D Ε Ipsilateral Contralateral 100 -100 p EF₅₀ (g) EF₅₀ (g) -O− IL-1β + saline (n=6) -∆− IL-1β + L-733,060 (11.4 nmol) (n=5) –□– IL-1β + L-733,060 (2.3 nmol) (n=5) IL-1β + L-733,060 (0.5 nmol) (n=5) 1 1 pre pre IL-1β 1.0 2.0 3.0 4.0 5.0 1.0 3.0 4.0 5.0 2.0 İL-1β Time post-IL-1 β (h) Time post-IL-1 β (h)

4.4 Discussion

The RVM is a critical site in descending modulation of pain (Mayer et al. 1971; Fields et al. 1991). Much research has focused on the descending inhibitory affects of the opioid system within the RVM (Fang et al. 1989; Boyer et al. 1998). Our lab has shown that upregulation and phosphorylation of AMPA receptors in the RVM can lead to descending inhibition of inflammatory pain (Guan et al. 2003; Guan et al. 2004). However, there has been mounting evidence of RVM-mediated descending facilitation (Wiertelak et al. 1997; Urban et al. 1999; Ren and Dubner 2002; Porreca et al. 2002; Heinricher et al. 2009; LaGraize et al. 2010).

We have shown that excitotoxic lesions of RVM neurons before intra-Vi/Vc IL-1β microinjection and intra-masseter CFA injection prevented the development of contralateral hyperalgesia (Sugiyo et al. 2005; Shimizu et al. 2009a). Glia activation in the RVM participates in descending facilitatory contribution to inflammatory and neuropathic hyperalgesia (Roberts et al. 2009; Wei et al. 2008). Research has shown that neuropathic pain may be maintained by cholecystokinin release in the RVM (Kovelowski et al. 2000). Research has also shown that neuropathic pain may induce RVM neuronal cell death, which could result in a net increase in descending facilitation (Leong et al. 2011). Brain -derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) activation of tyrosine kinase receptor– B in the RVM is involved in the development of persistent pain (Guo et al. 2006).

Substance P has been shown to be involved in RVM descending facilitation of pain (Pacharinsak et al. 2008; Brink et al. 2012). NK1-R activation in the RVM enhances excitatory glutamatergic inputs to RVM neurons in rats with persistent pain (Zhang et al.

2009). NK1-R antagonism in the RVM attenuated CFA-induced thermal hyperalgesia in the hind paw (Hamity et al. 2010). Previous studies have shown that NK1-R expression is increased in the RVM following hind paw inflammation and direct injection of substance P into the RVM can induce bilateral thermal hyperalgesia in the hind paw (LaGraize et al. 2010). It was also shown that substance P-induced hyperalgesia can be mediated by 5-HT, NMDA, and GABA_A receptors at the spinal level (LaGraize et al. 2010). We have now shown that NK1-R inhibition in the RVM attenuated inflammatory orofacial hyperalgesia bilaterally. These results suggest that NK1-R activation in the RVM contributes to descending facilitation that mediates inflammatory orofacial hyperalgesia to the ipsilateral and contralateral side.

It is surprising, however, that intra-Vi/Vc IL-1 β -induced ipsilateral orofacial hyperalgesia was not attenuated but rather slightly enhanced after excitotoxic lesions of RVM, which suggests that IL-1 β -induced ipsilateral hyperexcitability was not dependent on a descending facilitatory drive. This result differs from the results obtained from NK1-R inhibition in the RVM after IL-1 β -induced ipsilateral hyperalgesia. This result is also different from the model of masseter muscle inflammation, in which RVM lesions abolished ipsilateral hyperalgesia at 1–3 d after inflammation (Sugiyo et al. 2005) and NK1-R inhibition in the RVM attenuated ipsilateral hyperalgesia up to 5 hours after injection. The lack of an effect of RVM lesions on IL-1 β -induced ipsilateral hyperalgesia may be explained by a removal of a descending net inhibitory effect on the ipsilateral side after IL-1 β injection. It has been shown that there are dynamic changes in descending pain modulation after inflammation of the rat hind paw, which involves an ipsilateral enhanced inhibition (Ren and Dubner 1996; Terayama et al. 2000). These

results also suggest differential descending control of primary and secondary hyperalgesia. While there is a dynamic balance between descending inhibition and facilitation on primary hyperalgesia, the descending modulation of secondary hyperalgesia may be predominantly facilitatory (Ren and Dubner 2002; Vanegas et al. 2004).

Chapter 5: Descending 5-HT activation of the contralateral Vi/Vc in contralateral hyperalgesia

5.1 Introduction

It has been established that descending neurons of the RVM are the major part of the descending serotonin (5-HT) pathway in the spinal cord (Millan 2002). Literature has shown that 5-HT is involved in the descending modulation of pain in the spinal cord (Sommer 2006; Bardin 2011). A conditional knockout of serotonin-containing neurons in mice resulted in an attenuation of opioid-mediated analgesia (Zhao et al. 2007). Selective lesions to serotonergic neurons in the RVM caused enhanced inflammatory pain (Wei et al. 1999).

Recent evidence suggests that the descending serotonin system also participates in descending facilitation of pain. Ablation of 5-HT-containing neurons that project to the spinal cord inhibits nocifensive behavior in rats after noxious stimulation to the hind paw (Svensson et al. 2006; Rahman et al. 2006). We have also shown that the serotonin system is involved in descending facilitation of pain in the spinal cord after tissue and nerve injury. Through the depletion of 5-HT in the RVM by RNA interference (RNAi), we showed that the 5-HT system is involved in the facilitation of spinal hyperalgesia (Wei et al. 2010).

However, these opposing effects may be mediated by the expression of the large family of 5-HT receptor subtypes (Lopez-Garcia 2006). Descending 5-HT activation of 5-HT1A receptors in the spinal cord contributes to anti-nociception (Buritova et al. 2005;

Viisanen and Pertovaara 2010). Activation of 5-HT7 receptors in the spinal cord is involved in the antinociceptive effects of systemic morphine (Dogrul and Seyrek 2006). Spinal 5-HT2A and 5-HT2B receptor activation may contribute to neuropathic pain (Aira et al. 2010). Similarly, 5-HT2A and 5-HT2C receptor activation in the spinal cord has been shown to increase hyperalgesia induced by peripheral inflammation (Kjorsvik et al. 2001).

Spinal 5-HT3 receptor activation has been shown to be pro-nociceptive (Ali et al. 1996; Zeitz et al. 2002). Inhibition of 5-HT3 receptors in the spinal cord reduced the evoked responses of dorsal horn neurons to mechanical and thermal stimuli (Ali et al. 1996; Suzuki et al. 2002). Activation of 5-HT3 receptors in the spinal cord contributes to the development of hyperalgesia after spinal cord injury (Oatway et al. 2004; Chen et al. 2009). Intra-RVM CCK induced hyperalgesia was prevented by inhibition of spinal 5-HT3 receptors (Dogrul et al. 2009).

These data suggest that descending 5-HT from the RVM is facilitatory upon activation of spinal 5-HT3 receptors. We hypothesize that descending 5-HT activation of 5-HT3 receptors in the contralateral Vi/Vc leads to the development of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia.

5.2 Specific Methods

5.2.1 shRNA

The shRNA plasmids containing the 5-HT synthesizing enzyme Trytophan

Hydroxylase – 2 (Tph-2) or a scrambled sequence control was administered into the RVM with a 1 μ L Hamilton syringe (0.5 μ g/0.5 μ l) over 5 minutes. Fifteen minutes after the injection, the syringe was slowly removed and a pair of Teflon-coated silver positive and negative electrodes spaced 3 mm apart were placed in a rostrocaudal direction at the injection site for electroporation (7 square-wave pulses; 50 ms, 40 V, 1 Hz). The rats were allowed to heal for 3 days before unilateral masseter injection of CFA. Behavioral tests were performed 24 hours post-CFA.

5.2.2 Western Blot

Naïve and treated rats were anesthetized with 50mg/kg pentobarbital sodium (i.p) and decapitated. The RVM tissue was removed as previously described (Guo et al. 2007). The RVM tissue was homogenized and centrifuged at 20,200 x g for 10 min at 4°C, and the supernatant was removed. The protein concentration was determined. Each sample contained proteins from one animal. The proteins (50 mg) were separated on a 7.5% SDS-PAGE gel and blotted to a nitrocellulose membrane (GE Healthcare Biosciences, Pittsburgh, PA). The blot was incubated with rabbit anti-Tph-2 antibody overnight at 4°C. The membrane was washed with TBS and incubated for 1 h with anti-goat IgG horseradish peroxidase (HRP) (1:3000; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) in 5% milk/TBS. The immunoreactivity was detected using enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) (GE Healthcare, Pittsburgh, PA). The loading and blotting of equal amount of proteins were verified by reprobing the membrane with anti-β-actin antiserum (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). The ECL-exposed films were digitized, and densitometric quantification of immunoreactive bands was performed using U- SCAN-IT gel (version 4.3, Silk

Scientific). Photoshop software was utilized to construct the figure from the raw western blot data.

5.2.3 Immunohistochemistry

Rats were anesthetized at various time points after gene transfer with 50mg/kg of pentobarbital sodium (i.p) and perfused transcardially with 0.9% saline solution followed by 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1M phosphate buffer solution. The brainstem and cervical spinal cord (C1-C2) was removed and immersed in the same fixative overnight at 4°C and transferred to 30% sucrose (w/v) in 0.1 M phosphate buffer solution for cryoprotection. After several days, 30 mm thick coronal sections of the tissue sample were sectioned with a cryostat at -20°C. Free floating tissue sections of the Vi/Vc were incubated with rabbit anti-5-HT antibody (1:4000, Immunostar, Hudson,WI) or rabbit anti-c-fos antibody overnight at room temperature. After serial washes, the sections staining for 5-HT were incubated with Cy2-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:500, Jackson ImmunoResearch, West Grove, PA). The sections staining for Fos protein were incubated with Nickel DAB. Control staining procedure was performed by omission of the primary antibody. Photoshop software was utilized to construct the figure from the original microscope photos.

5.2.4 5-HT3 receptor antagonist

Cannulae were implanted into the ipsilateral and contralateral Vi/Vc. CFA (0.05ml; 1:1 oil/saline) was injected into the ipsilateral masseter muscle 5-7days after cannula implantation. 24 hours after CFA injection, 5-HT3 receptor antagonist Y-25130

was injected into the Vi/Vc. Mechanical sensitivity was tested 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 hours after L-733,060 and RP67580 microinjection. Baseline mechanical sensitivity was tested before CFA injection and before L-733,060 and RP67580 microinjection.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 5-HT depletion in the RVM inhibits the development of CFA-induced contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia

The results suggest that NK1-R activation of RVM neurons may lead to descending facilitation of pain on the contralateral side and ipsilateral side. We previously showed that depletion of 5-HT in the RVM neurons inhibits injury-induced hyperalgesia (Wei et al. 2010) and an intrathecal 5-HT3 receptor antagonist blocked intra-RVM substance P-induced hyperalgesia (LaGraize et al. 2010). Thus, we tested the hypothesis that CFA-induced masseter inflammation could ultimately result in 5-HTdependent descending facilitation to the contralateral Vi/Vc.

To evaluate the role of 5-HT in the development of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia, down regulation of Tph-2, a rate limiting enzyme for 5-HT synthesis in RVM neurons was achieved by RNA interference. Since the RVM is a midline structure that projects bilaterally, RNA interference should result in bilateral 5-HT depletion at the level of the Vi/Vc. In CFA-induced hyperalgesic rats, western blot showed that Tph-2 expression in the RVM was significantly down regulated at 4-8 days after Tph-2 shRNA administration when compared to control (n=4; p<0.001) (Figure 5.1A). Immunostaining

at 4 days after shRNA administration shows a reduction of 5-HT immunoreactivity in the ventral Vi/Vc axons of CFA-induced hyperalgesic rats when compared to control shRNA (Figure 5.1B, C). 5-HT depletion inhibits the development of CFA-induced contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia 4-6 days after CFA injection (Figure 5.1E). However, 5-HT depletion did not inhibit development of ipsilateral hyperalgesia after CFA masseter muscle injection (Figure 5.1F). These data suggest that 5-HT-dependent descending facilitation of pain is necessary for the development of contralateral hyperalgesia but not the ipsilateral hyperalgesia.

Figure 5.1: 5-HT depletion in the RVM prevents the development of contralateral hyperalgesia. RNAi of Tph-2 in the RVM prevents the development of CFA-induced contralateral hyperalgesia. A. Western blot analysis of Tph-2 in the RVM. CFA (0.05 ml; 1:1 oil/saline) injected unilaterally into the masseter muscle 3 days after shRNA administration. Tph-2 protein expression was measured in rats at 4 day (n=4), 6 days (n=4) and 8 days (n=4) after shRNA was administered. Tph-2 protein expression was measured in rats given control shRNA (n=4) 4 days after the shRNA was administered. **B.C.** Immunohistochemical fluorescent staining of 5-HT in the Vi/Vc of shRNA treated rats (n=3) 24 hours after CFA administration shows decreased 5-HT expression in the Vi/Vc following Tph-2 depletion in rats as compared to control shRNA (n=3). CFA was administered 3 days after shRNA administration. (Ba: control shRNA,10x; Bb: control shRNA,40x. Ca: Tph-2 shRNA,10x; Cb: Tph-2 shRNA,40x). D. Timeline of behavioral testing. E,F. Mechanical hyperalgesia was tested in 5-HT depleted rats with CFAinduced hyperalgesia. Control or Tph-2 shRNA was administered and CFA was injected 3 days after. Mechanical hyperalgesia was inhibited in 5-HT depleted rats as compared to control on the contralateral side (E), but not the ipsilateral side (F). *: CFA + Tph-2shRNA vs. CFA + control shRNA, p<0.05; **: p<0.01; ***: p<0.001 (ANOVA with repeated measures and Student Neuman-Keuls post-hoc test).



5.3.2 Vi/Vc 5-HT3 receptor activation is necessary for CFA-induced contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia

Previous studies have shown that 5-HT3 receptor expression is upregulated in the spinal cord and trigeminal nuclei in animal models of persistent pain (Rahman et al. 2006; Doucet et al. 2007). In similar models of persistent pain, hyperalgesia is attenuated following 5-HT3 receptor inhibition (Oatway et al. 2004; Rahman et al. 2006; Zeitz et al. 2002).

To test whether 5-HT3 receptors are involved in contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia, a 5-HT3 receptor antagonist, Y-25130 was microinjected into the contralateral Vi/Vc following CFA masseter muscle injection. Contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia was dose-dependently attenuated following Y-25130 (n=6) (Figure 5.2A). In contrast, Y-25130 microinjected into the contralateral Vi/Vc did not attenuate the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (Figure 5.2B). These results suggest that 5-HT3 receptor activation in the contralateral Vi/Vc facilitates the CFA-induced contralateral hyperalgesia.

To test whether the 5-HT3 receptor was involved in ipsilateral orofacial hyperalgesia, Y-25130 was microinjected into the ipsilateral Vi/Vc following CFA masseter muscle injection. Microinjection of Y-25130 into the ipsilateral Vi/Vc did not attenuate either ipsilateral or contralateral hyperalgesia (Figure 5.2C, D). These results provide evidence that coincides with the results seen in Figure 5.1 that showed 5-HT depletion did not affect the development of ipsilateral hyperalgesia and that ipsilateral hyperalgesia is predominantly driven via the ipsilateral Vc. These results suggest that descending 5-HT activation of 5-HT3 receptors in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc is not the
predominant mechanism involved in the development of ipsilateral orofacial hyperalgesia.

Figure 5.2: Vi/Vc 5-HT3 receptor inhibition attenuates contralateral hyperalgesia.

A. Experiment sequence shows Vi/Vc cannulation 5-7 days before CFA masseter muscle injection. After 24 hours, the 5-HT3 receptor antagonist was injected into the Vi/Vc. Inhibition of the 5-HT3 receptor in the contralateral Vi/Vc attenuates CFA-induced contralateral hyperalgesia. CFA (0.05 ml; 1:1 oil/saline) was injected into the masseter muscle and 24 hours later, Y-25130 was microinjected (0.5 ml) into the contralateral Vi/Vc (**B**, **C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the contralateral Vi/Vc attenuated contralateral hyperalgesia (**B**) but not ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral hyperalgesia (**C**). Y-25130 microinjection into the ipsilateral Vi/Vc (**D**, **E**) did not attenuate ipsilateral or contralateral hyperalgesia. +: lowest dose vs. saline. #: middle dose vs. saline. *: highest dose vs. saline. +#,*: p<0.05; ++,##,**: p<0.01; +++,###,**: p<0.001



5.3.3 Fos protein expression is not significantly different between the administration of control and Tph-2 shRNA in CFA-induced hyperalgesic rats

Previous research showed that CFA-induced masseter inflammation also results in bilateral neuronal activation in the Vi/Vc while ipsilateral neuronal activation is seen in the Vc (Imbe et al. 1999). We hypothesized that the activation of contralateral Vi/Vc neurons was to due descending facilitation from the RVM. Following the behavioral data (Figure 5.1) which shows a significant attenuation in contralateral hyperalgesia after 5-HT depletion we tested for Fos protein expression in neurons of the Vi/Vc and Vc to see if neuronal activation corroborates the behavior. We found that Fos protein expression in the Vi/Vc and the Vc showed no difference in Fos protein expression bilaterally (Figure 5.3A, B). **Figure 5.3: 5-HT depletion does not significantly reduce Fos protein expression in the contralateral ventral Vi/Vc. A.** Immunohistochemical analysis of contralateral Fos protein expression in CFA-induced hyperalgesic rats after control and Tph-2 shRNA administration. **B.** Immunohistochemical analysis of ipsilateral Fos protein expression in CFA-induced hyperalgesic rats after control and Tph-2 shRNA administration. **C.** 10x magnified photograph of Fos protein staining in a CFA-induced hyperalgesic rat after control shRNA.



С



5.4 Discussion

In the spinal cord, administration of a 5-HT3 receptor antagonist inhibits evoked responses of dorsal horn neurons after noxious stimulation (Rahman et al. 2006) and intra-RVM cholecystokinin-induced mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia (Dogrul et al. 2009). Similarly, intrathecal administration of a 5-HT3 receptor antagonist attenuates formalin-induced hind paw flinching and spinal ERK activation (Svensson et al. 2006). We have previously shown that after the depletion of endogenous 5-HT while maintaining the viability and function of serotonergic neurons, descending facilitation is dependent on the activation of serotonergic facilitation is necessary for the development and maintenance of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia after CFA-induced masseter inflammation. Furthermore, activation of contralateral Vi/Vc 5-HT3 receptors is necessary for the induction of CFA-induced contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia.

An interesting observation from this study is that shRNA treatment of Tph-2 in the RVM, which down regulates 5-HT bilaterally, did not affect ipsilateral hyperalgesia. One would expect that hyperalgesia would be attenuated bilaterally. Similarly, 5-HT3 receptor activation only appears to be necessary in the contralateral Vi/Vc for the development of contralateral hyperalgesia and does not affect the development of ipsilateral hyperalgesia. One possible explanation is that ipsilateral hyperalgesia is dominated by hyperexcitability and central sensitization in the Vc driven by peripheral input which masks the loss of descending facilitation seen through the 5-HT depletion and 5-HT3 receptor inhibition.

A recent study has shown that descending 5-HT3 activation in the Vc is involved in secondary hyperalgesia on the ipsilateral side in neuropathic pain conditions (Okubo et al. 2013). The results from Okubo et al. are different from my results in that they show an ipsilateral involvement with the descending serotonergic system as well as a Vc involvement in the mechanism of secondary hyperalgesia. However, 5-HT3 receptor activation in the ipsilateral STN is involved in the mechanism of secondary hyperalgesia similar to the contralateral Vi/Vc 5-HT3 receptor activation I have shown. Furthermore, Okubo et al. also show that the primary hyperalgesia is predominantly dependent on peripheral input. The Vc lesion experiment (Figure 3.4) provides evidence that the primary afferents of the masseter muscle are necessary for the development of the primary hyperalgesia seen on the ipsilateral side.

An alternative explanation is that the absence of attenuation of ipsilateral hyperalgesia may be related to the finding of varying degrees of descending inhibitory and facilitatory input into the contralateral and ipsilateral medullary/spinal dorsal horn. It has been shown that descending pain modulation is in dynamic balance between inhibitory and facilitatory signals (Vanegas and Schaible 2004). After hind paw inflammation, there is a time-dependent enhancement of descending inhibition on the ipsilateral side (Ren and Dubner 1996; Terayama et al. 2000). Descending 5-HT projections from the RVM also produce dual inhibitory and facilitatory effects due to activation of different 5-HT receptor subtypes (Bardin 2011). The net effect of descending modulation may be facilitatory on the contralateral side and inhibitory on the ipsilateral side in this masseter inflammation model. Thus, depletion of descending 5-HT on the ipsilateral side would reduce predominant inhibitory signals and the hyperalgesia

would be sustained.

The Fos protein expression experiment did not generate further support for the behavioral data. However, the results should be explained with caution. Measuring Fos protein expression as a means of nociceptive activation comes with its own pitfalls. Fos protein expression is the expression of immediate early gene *c-fos* and is thus thought to suggest neuronal activation. It is known that not all activated neurons express Fos proteins such is seen in the dorsal root ganglion. Thus, this negative result may not be indicative of a lack of activation. Nevertheless, the behavioral data still provides evidence that suggests that 5-HT activation of 5-HT3 receptors in the contralateral Vi/Vc is involved in the development of contralateral hyperalgesia.

Chapter 6: General Discussion

6.1 Conclusion

Overall, our results support the hypothesis that the Vi/Vc–RVM circuitry mediates the development of hyperalgesia on the contralateral side after ipsilateral deep tissue injury. CFA-induced inflammatory orofacial hyperalgesia produces an increase in IL-1 β activation of IL-1R in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc. IL-1R activation in the Vi/Vc ultimately leads to NK1-R activation in the RVM. This leads to activation of descending serotonin-containing RVM neurons that project to the Vi/Vc bilaterally. Activation of 5-HT3 receptors in the contralateral Vi/Vc results in deep tissue orofacial pain in the contralateral masseter muscle (Figure 6.1).

Figure 6.1: Vi/Vc-RVM circuitry is necessary for the development of contralateral hyperalgesia. The proposed pathway involved in the development of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia following unilateral deep tissue inflammatory hyperalgesia. Unilateral CFA masseter inflammation leads to increased IL-1β activation of IL-1R in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc. Activation of the RVM through NK1-R activation leads to descending serotonergic facilitation of pain to the contralateral Vi/Vc. Activation of 5-HT3 receptors in the contralateral Vi/Vc leads to contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia. The arrows are not indicative of direct synaptic connections.



6.2 Ipsilateral STN

Our earlier research has shown that masseter muscle injection of CFA produces an inflammatory response and upregulation of IL-1β expression in astrocytes of the Vi/Vc transition zone (Guo et al. 2007). Glia research has shown that increased IL-1β expression and release due to noxious stimulation after injury can occur from microglia and astrocytes of the spinal trigeminal nucleus (STN) (Ren and Torres 2009). IL-1β activation of IL-1R results in PKC activation and phosphorylation of the NMDA receptor subunit GluNR1. Phosphorylation of the GluNR1 subunit increases NMDA receptor activity leading to increased excitatory responses (Guo et al. 2007). This mechanism of IL-1R activation and NMDAR modulation in the ipsilateral STN is thought to participate in the development of ipsilateral orofacial hyperalgesia. However, our results suggest that Vi/Vc activation is not a predominant contributor. Lesion of the Vc suggests that Vc activation from masseter afferent neurons is the main mechanism involved in ipsilateral hyperalgesia.

The ascending pathway involved in the development of contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia remains unclear. Ascending Vi/Vc transition zone neurons have been shown to project to the submedius nucleus of the thalamus (Sm), the VPM of the thalamus, and the RVM (Ikeda et al. 2003; Sugiyo et al. 2005). It is possible that Vi/Vc activation leads to activation of RVM neurons, which then activates the descending serotonergic facilitation to the Vi/Vc of the contralateral side. It is also possible that ipsilateral Vi/Vc activates the descending modulatory PAG-RVM circuit. Activation of the RVM could then result in descending serotonergic activation of the contralateral Vi/Vc.

However, regardless of the ascending system involved, our research suggests that the primary mechanism involved in the development of ipsilateral and contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia are different. We have shown that ipsilateral hyperalgesia is unaffected when descending serotonergic facilitation is inhibited. On the other hand, contralateral hyperalgesia is unaffected with the lesion to the ipsilateral Vc. Similarly, ipsilateral hyperalgesia persisted after RVM lesion. This same lesion did produce an attenuation to the contralateral hyperalgesia. Thus it appears that the Vi/Vc-RVM circuitry is the primary pathway involved in contralateral orofacial hyperalgesia while the

masseter afferent – Vc activation is the primary pathway involved in ipsilateral orofacial hyperalgesia.

6.3 RVM

Activation of the descending modulatory circuit involves the activation of NK1-R containing neurons in the RVM. We showed that NK1-R activation in the RVM attenuates bilateral orofacial hyperalgesia. This data suggests that NK1-R activation plays a facilitatory role. Supporting this hypothesis, substance P can be released from neurons in the PAG (Nakaya et al. 1994).

We further showed that serotonin released from the RVM is involved in the facilitation of hyperalgesia on the contralateral side. Interestingly, research suggests that RVM neurons containing serotonin do not express NK1-R (Zhang and Hammond 2009). It is possible that substance P activation of NK1-R occurs on RVM interneurons which then activates serotonin release. This possibility would suggest that the downstream action of NK1-R-containing neurons is within the RVM before lateralization of the descending projections, which may result in a bilateral effect. Another possibility would be that the descending serotonin system modulates the glutamatergic synapse of the NK1-R-containing RVM neurons in the STN. This possibility would suggest that the downstream action of NK1-R-containing neurons is within the STN, which may result in a unilateral effect. These possibilities are purely speculations and would require further research to determine the cellular mechanisms involved.

6.4 Contralateral STN

Pain referred to the contralateral side is a phenomena that appears exclusive to the trigeminal system (Ambalavanar et al. 2006; Shimizu et al. 2009a). CFA injection in to the orofacial region resulted in hyperalgesia in the contralateral face as well as the contralateral hind paw. While hind paw inflammation induced by large amounts of intramuscular CFA can lead to referred pain, the pain remains localized to the ipsilateral side (Urban et al. 1999). It is possible that this is due to a difference in descending mechanisms. We have suggested that the RVM-Vi/Vc transition zone circuitry may be the difference between the trigeminal and spinal system.

Our previous research showed that CFA-induced masseter inflammation also results in bilateral neuronal activation in the Vi/Vc while ipsilateral neuronal activation is seen in the Vc (Imbe et al. 1999). We hypothesized that the activation of contralateral Vi/Vc neurons was to due descending facilitation from the RVM. Our results provide behavioral evidence that mirrors the Fos protein data previously seen in CFA-induced hyperalgesic rats.

We showed that descending serotonin activation of 5-HT3 receptors in the contralateral Vi/Vc transition zone was involved in the development of contralateral hyperalgesia. Our results also suggest that removal of descending serotonergic facilitation is not enough to decrease the neuronal activation in the ipsilateral Vi/Vc. Depending upon the site of modulation, 5-HT3 receptor activation can have varying effects. Similar to other neuromodulators, presynaptic modulation can lead to increased release of various neurotransmitters (Funahashi et al. 2004). Postsynaptic modulation can lead to

depolarization (Ronde and Nichols 1998). It is possible that the descending serotonin activation of 5-HT3 receptors in the contralateral Vi/Vc leads to modulation of the neurotransmitters released from primary afferent fibers of the masseter muscle. It is also possible that activation of 5-HT3 receptors modulate the excitability of the second order neurons projecting to the supraspinal structures of the brain. Lastly, it is possible that the activation of 5-HT3 receptors in the Vi/Vc can modulate the descending signals of the NK-1 containing neurons.

Although we have shown that depletion of 5-HT from the RVM resulted in an attenuation of the contralateral hyperalgesia, the mechanism remains unknown. Further experimentation would be needed to establish whether masseter muscle inflammation results in increased synaptic release of 5-HT and/or changes in 5-HT receptor expression.

6.5 Research implications

Conditions of chronic pain have been shown to persist in patients for a lifetime despite the removal or resolution of the injury (van Wilgen and Keizer 2012). Many instances of TMJ pain have also persisted through the life of a patient despite the therapies given (Sidebottom et al. 2011). The hyperalgesia seen in chronic pain patients is believed to be a product of neuronal plasticity and central sensitization (Ren and Dubner 1999; Woolf and Salter 2000). Animal models of chronic pain research have always attempted to mimic the symptoms of hyperalgesia and the central sensitization seen in these chronic pain patients. Intramuscular CFA injection has been shown to induce profound inflammatory hyperalgesia that lasts up to 3 weeks (Ren 1999; Ambalavanar et

al. 2005; Shimizu et al. 2009a). Nerve injury models can produce hyperalgesia that persists up to 2 months after injury (Bennett and Xie 1988). The current animal models of persistent pain have shown neuronal and glial changes in the central nervous system following injury (Sugiyo et al. 2005; Guo et al. 2007; Shimizu et al. 2009a; Shimizu et al. 2009b; Wei et al. 2010).

However, differentiation between primary and secondary hyperalgesia is not very precise in current animal models of pain. When testing for secondary hyperalgesia one must test sites at varying distances from the site of injury. Therefore it is unknown whether the site tested is in fact referred or within the receptive field of neurons directly activated by the injury. Our research provides a novel model of testing descending modulation in pain without confounding factors such as the field of innervation and possible crossover innervation that is seen with unilateral pain. This model allows clear differentiation between primary and secondary hyperalgesia.

Current models also fail to differentiate the mechanism being tested of the secondary hyperalgesia seen. It is unknown whether the secondary hyperalgesia seen is a result of segmental activation due to direct spread to local neurons not receiving input from the injured zone or due to the involvement of descending mechanisms. Our research shows that the secondary hyperalgesia is seen at the contralateral site due to descending mechanisms and not to cross innervation of primary afferent neurons or brainstem neurons. This allows one to develop experiments involving the descending modulatory mechanism in secondary hyperalgesia.

6.6 Clinical implications

Our research focuses on the involvement of descending modulation of secondary hyperalgesia in the orofacial region. Clinical symptoms of secondary hyperalgesia can be seen amongst chronic pain disorders (Goldberg 1997; Schultz and Melzack 1999; Pourrier et al. 2010). It is possible that pain outside the zone of injury seen in human chronic pain conditions may involve descending mechanisms as well. This would suggest that primary and secondary hyperalgesia in humans may result from different pathways and mechanisms suggesting that different treatment modalities might be necessary to alleviate all the pain.

Our research also suggests that the ascending nociceptive system from primary afferents to the Vc is the dominant mechanism involved in primary hyperalgesia (pain at the site of injury). Although it is possible that descending facilitation is involved in primary hyperalgesia, the role of the Vi/Vc appears minimal. Our findings suggest that the influence of the descending modulation evoked by the activation of Vc may differ from that evoked by activation of the Vi/Vc transition zone. The former may be related to sensory discriminative features and the latter to more reflexive behaviors.

While our model focuses on the secondary hyperalgesia seen on the contralateral side, usually TMJD is seen unilaterally in human presentations. It is our speculation that the contralateral hyperalgesia seen in rats is mainly due to the robust inflammatory response that is seen after CFA administration. The severity of inflammation seen in rats after CFA appears to be greater than the inflammatory response seen in the human condition. It is possible that the development of contralateral pain in humans may be

dependent on the severity of the injury in the TMJ. Upon further speculation, the uniqueness of the TMJ and the mandatory bilateral function of the TMJ provide an anatomical possibility for why contralateral hyperalgesia may be necessary for protection from further injury to the joint. If the joint is severely injured unilaterally, bilateral symptoms of pain would prevent all attempts at movement.

6.7 Future Directions

This research provides evidence that descending modulatory mechanisms in pain are involved in the development of secondary hyperalgesia in the trigeminal system. More specifically, this research shows that the Vi/Vc-RVM circuitry is involved in orofacial pain evoked from outside the zone of injury. However, many questions still remain.

Much is unknown regarding the neuronal mechanisms involved in the supraspinal structures involved with this model of secondary hyperalgesia. It is still unknown what the ascending circuitry is that leads to the activation of the RVM. We are unsure of supraspinal structures and chemical mediators involved after ipsilateral Vi/Vc activation. It is also unknown how the substance P/NK1-R system of the RVM modulates the descending serotonin system.

It is also unknown whether the Vi/Vc-RVM circuitry is involved in other models of secondary hyperalgesia. Is descending facilitation from the RVM involved in secondary hyperalgesia on the ipsilateral side? Is descending facilitation from the RVM

involved in secondary hyperalgesia models when the injury is not located in the orofacial region? To answer these questions, behavioral experiments involving manipulation of the descending system would need to be tested in other persistent pain models involving secondary hyperalgesia.

However despite the many questions still left unanswered, we have provided a novel model for testing the role of descending modulation in pain outside the zone of injury. While it has been hypothesized that descending modulatory signals differ between the primary site of injury and sites of secondary pain, it has been difficult to test. This model of pain provides a clear behavioral testing site for secondary hyperalgesia that is clearly distinct in innervation from the site of injury.

References

- Aira Z, Buesa I, Salgueiro M, Bilbao J, Aguilera L, Zimmermann M, Azkue JJ. Subtypespecific changes in 5-HT receptor-mediated modulation of C fibre-evoked spinal field potentials are triggered by peripheral nerve injury. *Neuroscience*. 2010; 168(3): 831-41.
- Akil H, Mayer DJ, Liebeskind JC. Antagonism of stimulation-produced analgesia by naloxone, a narcotic antagonist. *Science*. 1976; 191(4230): 961-2.
- Ali Z, Wu G, Kozlov A, Barasi S. The role of 5HT3 in nociceptive processing in the rat spinal cord: results from behavioural and electrophysiological studies. *Neurosci Lett.* 1996; 208(3): 203-7.
- Amano N, Hu JW, Sessle BJ. Responses of neurons in feline trigeminal subnucleus caudalis (medullary dorsal horn) to cutaneous, intraoral, and muscle afferent stimuli. *J Neurophysiol.* 1986; 55(2): 227-43.
- Ambalavanar R, Moutanni A, Dessem D. Inflammation of craniofacial muscle induces widespread mechanical allodynia. *Neurosci Lett.* 2006; 399: 249-254.
- Anderson LC, Rao RD. Interleukin-6 and nerve growth factor levels in peripheral nerve and brainstem after trigeminal nerve injury in the rat. *Arch Oral Biol.* 2001; 46(7): 633-40.
- Apkarian AV, Bushnell MC, Treede RD, Zubieta JK. Human brain mechanisms of pain perception and regulation in health and disease. *Eur J Pain*. 2005; 9(4): 463-84.
- Auvray M, Myin E, Spence C. The sensory-discriminative and affective-motivational aspects of pain. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2010; 34(2): 214-23.

Bai G, Wei D, Zou S, Ren K, Dubner R. Inhibition of class II histone deacetylases in the

spinal cord attenuates inflammatory hyperalgesia. Mol Pain. 2010; 6: 51.

- Barbaro NM, Heinricher MM, Fields HL. Putative pain modulating neurons in the rostral ventral medulla: reflex-related activity predicts effects of morphine. *Brain Res.* 1986; 366(1-2): 203-10.
- Bardin L. The complex role of serotonin and 5-HT receptors in chronic pain. *Behav Pharmacol.* 2011; 22(5-6): 390-404.
- Behbehani MM, Fields HL. Evidence that an excitatory connection between the periaqueductal gray and nucleus raphe magnus mediates stimulation produced analgesia. *Brain Res.* 1979; 170(1): 85-93.
- Bennett GJ, Xie YK. A peripheral mononeuropathy in rat that produces disorders of pain sensation like those seen in man. *Pain.* 1988; 33(1): 87-107.
- Benoist JM, Gautron M, Guilbaud G. Experimental model of trigeminal pain in the rat by constriction of one infraorbital nerve: changes in neuronal activities in the somatosensory cortices corresponding to the infraorbital nerve. *Exp Brain Res.* 1999; 126(3): 383-98.
- Bereiter DA, Hathaway CB, Benetti AP. Caudal portions of the spinal trigeminal complex are necessary for autonomic responses and display Fos-like immunoreactivity after corneal stimulation in the cat. *Brain Res.* 1994; 657(1-2): 73-82.
- Binshtok AM, Wang H, Zimmermann K, Amaya F, Vardeh D, Shi L, Brenner GJ, Ji RR,
 Bean BP, Woolf CJ, Samad TA. Nociceptors are interleukin-1beta sensors. J
 Neurosci. 2008; 28(52): 14062-73.

Bourgeais L, Gauriau C, Bernard JF. Projections from the nociceptive area of the central

nucleus of the amygdala to the forebrain: a PHA-L study in the rat. *Eur J Neurosci*. 2001; 14(2): 229-55.

- Boyer JS, Morgan MM, Craft RM. Microinjection of morphine into the rostral ventromedial medulla produces greater antinociception in male compared to female rats. *Brain Res.* 1998; 796(1-2): 315-8.
- Brink TS, Khasabov SG, Fliss PM, Simone DA. Ablation of NK-1 expressing neurons in the rostral ventromedial medulla attenuates inflammatory hyperalgesia. Chicago, IL: Program No. 361.5. Society for Neuroscience; 2009.
- Brink TS, Pacharinsak C, khasabov SG, Beitz AJ, Simone DA. Differential modulation of neurons in the rostral ventromedial medulla by neurokin-1 receptors. J Neurophysiol. 2012; 107(4): 1210-21.
- Budai D, Khasabov SG, Mantyh PW, Simone DA. NK-1 receptors modulate the excitability of ON cells in the rostral ventromedial medulla. *J Neurophysiol*. 2007; 97: 1388–1395.
- Buritova J, Larrue S, Aliaga M, Basson JM, Colpaert F. Effects of the high-efficacy 5-HT1A receptor agonist, F 13640 in the formalin pain model: a c-Fos study. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2005; 514(2-3): 121-30.
- Calejesan AA, Ch'ang MH, Zhuo M. Spinal serotonergic receptors mediate facilitation of a nociceptive reflex by subcutaneous formalin injection into the hindpaw in rats.
 Brain Res. 1998; 798(1-2): 46-54.
- Cao YQ, Mantyh PW, Carlson EJ, Gillespie AM, Epstein CJ, Basbaum AI. Primary afferent tachykinins are required to experience moderate to intense pain. *Nature*. 1998; 392: 390-394.

- Capra NF. Localization and central projections of primary afferent neurons that innervate the temporomandibular joint in cats. *Somatosens Res.* 1987; 4(3): 201-13.
- Capra NF, Dessem D. Central connections of trigeminal primary afferent neurons:
 topographical and functional considerations. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med.* 1992; 4(1):
 1-52.
- Carstens E, Saxe I, Ralph R. Brainstem neurons expressing c-Fos immunoreactivity following irritant chemical stimulation of the rat's tongue. *Neuroscience*. 1995; 69(3): 939-53.
- Cechetto DF, Standaert DG, Saper CB. Spinal and trigeminal dorsal horn projections to the parabrachial nucleus in the rat. *J Comp Neurol*. 1985; 240(2): 153-60.
- Chang Z, Okamoto K, Tashiro A, Bereiter DA. Ultraviolet irradiation of the eye and Fospositive neurons induced in trigeminal brainstem after intravitreal or ocular surface transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 activation. *Neuroscience*. 2010; 170(2): 678-85.
- Chang Z, Okamoto K, Bereiter DA. Differential ascending projections of temporomandibular joint-responsive brainstem neurons to periaqueductal gray and posterior thalamus of male and female rats. *Neuroscience*. 2012; 203: 230-43.
- Chatter R, Cenac N, Roussis V, Kharrat R, Vergnolle N. Inhibition of sensory afferents activation and visceral pain by a brominated algal diterpene. *Neurogastroenterol Motil.* 2012; 24(7): e336-43.
- Chen Y, Oatway MA, Weaver LC. Blockade of the 5-HT3 receptor for days causes sustained relief from mechanical allodynia following spinal cord injury. *J Neurosci Res.* 2009; 87(2): 418-24.

- Chiaia NL, Rhoades RW, Fish SE, Killackey HP. Thalamic processing of vibrissal information in the rat: II. Morphological and functional properties of medial ventral posterior nucleus and posterior nucleus neurons. *J Comp Neurol*. 1991; 314(2): 217-36.
- Chiang CY, Dostrovsky JO, Iwata K, Sessle BJ. Role of glia in orofacial pain. *Neuroscientist.* 2011; 17(3): 303-20.
- Christie MJ, Connor M, Vaughan CW, Ingram SL, Bagley EE. Cellular actions of opioids and other analgesics: implications for synergism in pain relief. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol.* 2000; 27(7): 520-3.
- Chun YH, Ro JY. Electrophysiological characterization of the rat trigeminal caudalis
 (Vc) neurons following intramuscular injection of capsaicin. *Neurosci Lett.* 2010;
 469(3): 289-93.
- Chun YH, Auh QS, Lee J, Ro JY. Masseter inflammation differentially regulates three nitric oxide synthases in the rat trigeminal subnucleus caudalis. *Arch Oral Biol.* 2012; 57(8): 1141-6.
- Coyle DE. Partial peripheral nerve injury leads to activation of astroglia and microglia which parallels the development of allodynic behavior. *Glia.* 1998; 23(1): 75-83.
- Daigo E, Sakuma Y, Miyoshi K, Noguchi K, Kotani J. Increased expression of interleukin-18 in the trigeminal spinal subnucleus caudalis after inferior alveolar nerve injury in the rat. *Neurosci Lett.* 2012; 529(1): 39-44.
- Dallel R, Raboisson P, Woda A, Sessle BJ. Properties of nociceptive and non-nociceptive neurons in trigeminal subnucleus oralis of the rat. *Brian Res.* 1990; 521(1-2): 95-106.

- Dang YH, Xing B, Zhao Y, Zhao XJ, Huo FQ, Tang JS, Qu CL, Chen T. The role of dopamine receptors in ventrolateral orbital cortex-evoked antinociception in a rat formalin test model. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2011; 657(1-3): 97-103.
- Dessem D, Moritani M, Ambalavanar R. Nociceptive craniofacial muscle primary afferent neurons synapse in both the rostral and caudal brain stem. *J Neurophysiol*. 2007; 98(1): 214-23.
- Dinarello CA. Interleukin-18 and the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am.* 2004; 30(2): 417-34.
- Dogrul A, Seyrek M. Systemic morphine produce antinociception mediated by spinal 5-HT7, but not 5-HT1A and 5-HT2 receptors in the spinal cord. *Br J Pharmacol*. 2006; 149(5): 498-505.
- Dogrul A, Ossipov MH, Porreca F. Differential mediation of descending pain facilitation and inhibition by spinal 5HT-3 and 5HT-7 receptors. *Brain Res.* 2009; 1280: 52-59.
- Doucet E, Latre'molie`re A, Darmon M, Hamon M, Emerit MB. Immunolabelling of the 5-HT 3B receptor subunit in the central and peripheral nervous systems in rodents. *Eur J Neurosci.* 2007; 26: 355–366.
- Dubner R, Bennett GJ. Spinal and trigeminal mechanisms of nociception. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* 1983; 6: 381-418.
- Dubner R, Ren K: Brainstem mechanisms of persistent pain following injury. *J Orofacial Pain.* 2004; 18: 299-305.
- Dubuisson D, Dennis SG. The formalin test: a quantitative study of the analgesia effects of morphine, meperidine, and brain stem stimulation in rats and cats. *Pain.* 1977;

4(2): 161-74.

- Edelmayer RM, Le LN, Yan J, Wei X, Nassini R, Materazzi S, Preti D, Appendino G,
 Geppetti P, Dodick DW, Vanderah TW, Porreca F, Dussor G. Activation of
 TRPA1 on dural afferents: a potential mechanism of headache pain. *Pain.* 2012.
 153(9): 1949-58.
- Eriksson NP, Persson JK, Svensson M, Arvidsson J, Molander C, Aldskogius H. A quantitative analysis of the microglial cell reaction in central primary sensory projection territories following peripheral nerve injury in the adult rat. *Exp Brain Res.* 1993; 96(1): 19-27.
- Falchi M, Ferrara F, Gharib C, Dib B. Hyperalgesic effect of intrathecally administered interleukin-1 in rats. *Drugs Exp Clin Res.* 2001; 27(3): 97-101.
- Fang FG, Haws CM, Drasner K, Williamson A, Fields HL. Opioid peptides (DAGO-enkephalin, dynorphin A(1-13), BAM 22P) microinjected into the rat brainstem: comparison of their antinociceptive effect and their effect on neuronal firing in the rostral ventromedial medulla. *Brain Res.* 1989; 501(1): 116-28.
- Feil K, Herbert H. Topographic organization of spinal and trigeminal somatosensory pathways to the rat parabrachial and Kölliker-Fuse nuclei. *J Comp Neurol.* 1995; 353(4): 506-28.
- Fernández-de-Las-Peñas C, Galan-del-Rio F, Fernandez-Carnero J, Pesquera J, Arendt-Nielsen L, Svensson P. Bilateral widespread mechanical pain sensitivity in women with myofascial temporomandibular disorder: Evidence of impairment in central nociceptive processing. *J Pain*. 2009; 10: 1170-1178.

Fernández-de-Las-Peñas C, Galan-del-Rio F, Ortega-Santiago R, Jimenez-Garcia R,

Arendt-Nielsen L, Svensson P. Bilateral thermal hyperalgesia in trigeminal and extra-trigeminal regions in patients with myofascial temporomandibular disorders. *Exp Brain Res.* 2010; 202: 171-179.

- Fields HL, Bry J, Hentall I, Zorman G. The activity of neurons in the rostral medulla of the rat during withdrawal from noxious heat. *J Neurosci.* 1983; 3(12): 2545-52.
- Fields HL, Heinricher MM, Mason P. Neurotransmitters in nociceptive modulatory circuits. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* 1991; 14: 219-45.
- Fields HL. Pain modulation: expectation, opioid analgesia and virtual pain. Prog Brain Res. 2000; 122: 245-53.
- Fields HL, Basbaum AI, Heinricher MM. Central nervous system mechanisms of pain modulation. In: Wall and Melzack's Textbook of Pain, 5th ed. edited by McMahon SB and Koltzenburg M. Elsevier Churchill Livingstone. 2006; pp. 125-42.
- Funahashi M, Mitoh Y, Matsuo R. Activation of presynaptic 5-HT3 receptors facilitates glutamatergic synaptic input to area postrema neurons in rat brain slices. *Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol.* 2004; 26: 615-22.
- Furuta T, Urbain N, Kaneko T, Deschenes M. Corticofugal control of vibrissa-sensitive neurons in the interpolaris nucleus of the trigeminal complex. *J Neurosci.* 2010; 30(5): 1832-8.
- Goldberg HL. Chest cancer refers pain to face and jaw: a case review. *Cranio.* 1997; 15(2): 167-9.
- Gosselin RD, Suter MR, Ji RR, Decosterd I. Glia cells and chronic pain. *Neuroscientist*. 2010; 16(5): 519-31.

Guan Y, Guo W, Zou SP, Dubner R, Ren K. Inflammation-induced upregulation of

AMPA receptor subunit expression in brain stem pain modulatory circuitry. *Pain*. 2003; 104(1-2): 401-13.

- Guan Y, Guo W, Robbins MT, Dubner R, Ren K. Changes in AMPA receptor phosphorylation in the rostral ventromedial medulla after inflammatory hyperalgesia in rats. *Neurosci Lett.* 2004; 366(2): 201-5.
- Guo W, Robbins MT, Wei F, Zou S, Dubner R, Ren K. Supraspinal brain-derived neurotrophic factor signaling: A novel mechanism for descending pain facilitation. *J Neurosci*. 2006; 26: 126-137.
- Guo W, Wang H, Watanabe M, et al. Glial-cytokine-neuronal interactions underlying the mechanisms of persistent pain. *J Neurosci.* 2007; 27: 6006-6018.
- Guy N, Chalus M, Dallel R, Voisin DL. Both oral and caudal parts of the spinal trigeminal nucleus project to the somatosensory thalamus in the rat. *Eur J Neurosci.* 2005; 21(3): 741-54.
- Hald A, Nedergaard S, Hansen RR, Ding M, Heegaard AM. Differential activation of spinal cord glial cells in murine models of neuropathic and cancer pain. *Eur J Pain.* 2009; 13(2): 138-45.
- Hamity MV, White SR, Hammond DL. Effects of neurokinin-1 receptor agonism and antagonism in the rostral ventromedial medulla of rats with acute or persistent inflammatory nociception. *Neuroscience*. 2010; 165: 902-913.
- Hathaway CB, Hu JW, Bereiter DA. Distribution of Fos-like immunoreactivity in the caudal brainstem of the rat following noxious chemical stimulation of the temporomandibular joint. *J Comp Neurol.* 1995; 356(3): 444-56.

Haydon PG. GLIA: listening an talking to the synapse. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2001; 2(3):

- Heinricher MM, Morgan MM, Tortorici V, Fields HL. Disinhibition of off-cells and antinociception produced by an opioid action within the rostral ventromedial medulla. *Neuroscience*. 1994; 63(1): 279-88.
- Heinricher MM, Schouten JC, Jobst EE. Activation of brainstem N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors is required for the analgesic actions of morphine given systemically. *Pain*. 2001; 92(1-2): 129-38.
- Heinricher MM, Neubert MJ. Neural basis for the hyperalgesic action of cholecystokinin in the rostral ventromedial medulla. *J Neurophysiol.* 2004. 92(4): 1982-9.
- Heinricher MM, Tavares I, Leith JL, Lumb BM. Descending control of nociception: Specificity, recruitment and plasticity. *Brain Res Rev.* 2009; 60: 214-225.
- Hirata H, Hu JW, Bereiter DA. Responses of medullary dorsal horn neurons to corneal stimulation by CO(2) pulses in the rat. *J Neurophysiol*. 1999; 82(5): 2092-107.
- Hitomi S, Shinoda M, Suzuki I, Iwata K. Involvement of transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 in ectopic pain following inferior alveolar nerve transection in rats. *Neurosci Lett.* 2012; 513(1): 95-9.
- Hu JW. Response properties of nociceptive and non-nociceptive neurons in the rat's trigeminal subnucleus caudalis (medullary dorsal horn) related to cutaneous and deep craniofacial afferent stimulation and modulation by diffuse noxious inhibitory controls. *Pain.* 1990; 41(3): 331-45.
- Hu JW, Sessle BJ, Raboisson P, Dallel R, Woda A. Stimulation of craniofacial muscle afferents induces prolonged facilitatory effects in trigeminal nociceptive brainstem neurons. *Pain* 1992; 48(1): 53-60.

- Hunskaar S, Hole K. The formalin test in mice: dissociation between inflammatory and non-inflammatory pain. *Pain*. 1987; 30(1): 103-14.
- Ikeda T, Terayama R, Jue SS, Sugiyo S, Dubner R, Ren K. Differential rostral projections of caudal brainstem neurons receiving trigeminal input after masseter inflammation. *J Comp Neurol.* 2003; 465: 220-233.
- Imamura Y, Kawamoto H, Nakanishi O. Characterization of heat-hyperalgesia in an experimental trigeminal neuropathy in rats. *Exp Brain Res.* 1997; 116(1): 97-103.
- Imbe H, Dubner R, Ren K. Masseteric inflammation-induced fos protein expression in the trigeminal interpolaris/caudalis transition zone: Contribution of somatosensoryvagal-adrenal integration. *Brain Res.* 1999; 845: 165-175.

Inoue K, Tsuda M. Microglia and neuropathic pain. Glia. 2009; 57(14): 1469-79.

- Iwata K, Tashiro A, Tsuboi Y, Imai T, Sumino R, Morimoto T, Dubner R, Ren K. Medullary dorsal horn neuronal activity in rats with persistent temporomandibular joint and perioral inflammation. *J Neurophysiol.* 1999; 82(3): 1244-53.
- Iwata K, Miyachi S, Imanishi M, Tsuboi Y, Kitagawa J, Teramoto K, Hitomi S, Shinoda M, Kondo M, Takada M. Ascending multisynaptic pathways from the trigeminal ganglion to the anterior cingulate cortex. *Exp Neurol.* 2011; 227(1): 69-78.
- Jacquet YF, Lajtha A. The periaqueductal gray: site of morphine analgesia and tolerance as shown by 2-way cross tolerance between systemic and intracerebral injections. *Brain Res.* 1976; 103(3): 501-13.
- Ji RR. Recent progress in understanding the mechanisms of pain and itch. *Neurosci Bull*. 2012; 28(2): 89-90.
- Ji Y, Tang B, Cao DY, Wang G, Traub RJ. Sex differences in spinal processing of

transient and inflammatory colorectal stimuli in the rat. *Pain*. 2012; 153(9): 1965-73.

- Jin SX, Zhuang ZY, Woolf CJ, Ji RR. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase is activated after a spinal nerve ligation in spinal cord microglia and dorsal root ganglion neurons and contributes to the generation of neuropathic pain. *J Neurosci.* 2003; 23(10): 4017-22.
- Johansen JP, Fields HL, Manning BH. The affective component of pain in rodents: direct evidence for a contribution of the anterior singular cortex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 2001. 98(14): 8077-82.
- Kaplan H, Fields HL. Hyperalgesia during acute opioid abstinence: evidence for a nociceptive facilitating function of the rostral ventromedial medulla. *J Neurosci*. 1991; 11(5): 1433-9.
- Kawasaki Y, Zhang L, Cheng JK, Ji RR. Cytokine mechanisms of central sensitization: distinct and overlapping role of interleukin-1beta, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in regulating synaptic and neuronal activity in the superficial spinal cord. *J Neurosci.* 2008; 28(20): 5189-94.
- Khasabov SG, Ghilardi JR, Mantyh PW, Simone DA. Spinal neurons that express NK-1 receptors modulate descending controls that project through the dorsolateral funiculus. *J Neurophysiol*. 2005; 93: 998-1006.
- Khasabov SG, Brink TS, Schupp M, Noack J, Simone DA. Changes in response properties of rostral ventromedial medulla neurons during prolonged inflammation: Modulation by neurokinin-1 receptors. *Neuroscience*. 2012; 224: 235-48.

- Kim SH, Chung JM. An experimental model for peripheral neuropathy produced by segmental spinal nerve ligation in the rat. *Pain.* 1992; 50(3): 355-63.
- Kjorsvik A, Tjolsen A, Hole K. Activation of spinal serotonin(2A/2C) receptors augments nociceptive responses in the rat. *Brain Res.* 2001; 910(1-2): 179-81.
- Kovelowski CJ, Ossipov MH, Sun H, Lai J, Malan TP, Porreca F. Supraspinal cholecystokinin may drive tonic descending facilitation mechanisms to maintain neuropathic pain in the rat. *Pain.* 2000; 87(3): 265-73.
- Kreutzberg GW. Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. *Trends Neurosci.* 1996; 19(8): 312-8.
- LaGraize SC, Guo W, Yang K, et al. NK-1 tachykinin receptors in the rostral ventromedial medulla mediate descending facilitation of inflammatory hyperalgesia linked to 5-HT3, NMDA and GABAA receptor dependent spinal circuitry. *Neuroscience*. 2010; 71(4): 1341-56
- LaMotte RH, Shain CN, Simone DA, Tsai EF. Neurogenic hyperalgesia: psychophysical studies of underlying mechanisms. *J Neurophysiol*. 1991; 66(1): 190-211.
- La Touche R, Fernández-de-Las-Peñas C, Fernandez-Carnero J, Díaz-Parreño S, Paris-Alemany A, Arendt-Nielsen L. Bilateral mechanical-pain sensitivity over the trigeminal region in patients with chronic mechanical neck pain. *J Pain*. 2010; 11: 256-263.
- Ledeboer A, Sloane EM, Milligan ED, Frank MG, Mahony JH, Maier SF, Watkins LR. Minocycline attenuates mechanical allodynia and proinflammatory cytokine expression in rat models of pain facilitation. *Pain*. 2005; 115(1-2): 71-83.

Lee S, Zhao YQ, Ribeiro-da-Silva A, Zhang J. Distinctive response of CNS glial cells in

oro-facial pain associated with injury, infection and inflammation. *Mol Pain*. 2010; 6: 79.

- Leong ML, Gu M, Speltz-Paiz R, Stahura EI, Mottey N, Steer CJ, Wessendorf M. Neuronal loss in the rostral ventromedial medulla in a rat model of neuropathic pain. *J Neurosci.* 2011; 31(47): 17028-39.
- Lewis VA, Gebhart GF. Evaluation of the periaqueductal central gray (PAG) as a morphine-specific locus of action and examination of morphine-induced and stimulation-produced analgesia at coincident PAG loci. *Brain Res.* 1977; 124(2): 283-303.
- Lichtman AH, Cook SA, Martin BR. Investigation of brain sites mediating cannabinoidinduced antinociception in rats: evidence supporting periaqueductal gray involvement. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 1996; 276(2): 585-93.
- Lopez-Garcia JA. Serotonergic modulation of spinal sensory circuits. *Curr Top Med Chem.* 2006; 6: 1987–1996.
- Maeoka H, Matsuo A, Hiyamizu M, Morioka S, Ando H. Influence of transcranial direct current stimulation of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex on pain related emotions: a study using electroencephalographic power spectrum analysis. *Neurosci Lett.* 2012; 512(1): 12-16.
- Maeno H, Kiyama H, Tohyama M. Distribution of the substance P receptor (NK-1 receptor) in the central nervous system. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res.* 1993; 18: 43–58.
- Mansikka H, Pertovaara A. Supraspinal influence on hindlimb withdrawal thresholds and mustard oil-induced secondary allodynia in rats. *Brain Res Bull.* 1997; 42(5): 359-

- Marfurt CF, Turner DF. The central projections of tooth pulp afferent neurons in the rat as determined by the transganglionic transport of horseradish peroxidase. *J Comp Neurol.* 1984; 223(4): 535-47.
- Markus H, Pomeranze B, Krushelnycky D. Spread of saphenous somatotopic projection mapin spinal cord and hypersensitivity of the foot after chronic sciatic denervation in adult rat. *Brain Res.* 1984; 296(1): 27-39.
- Martenson ME, Cetas JS, Heinricher MM. A possible neural basis for stress-induced hyperalgesia. *Pain.* 2009; 142: 236-244.
- Martin WJ, Patrick SL, Coffin PO, Tsou K, Walker JM. An examination of the central sites of action of cannabinoid-induced antinociception in the rat. *Life Sci.* 1995; 56(23-24): 2103-9.
- Martin YB, Malmierca E, Avendano C, Nunez A. Neuronal disinhibition in the trigeminal nucleus caudalis in a model of chronic neuropathic pain. *Eur J Neurosci.* 2010; 32(3): 399-408.
- Mason P. Central Mechansims of pain modulation. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* 1999; 9(4): 436-41.
- Mayer DJ, Wolfle TL, Akil H, Carder B, Liebeskind JC. Analgesia from electrical stimulation in the brainstem of the rat. *Science*. 1971; 174: 1351-1354.
- Mayer DJ, Liebeskind JC. Pain reduction by focal electrical stimulation of the brain: an anatomical and behavioral analysis. *Brain Res.* 1974; 68(1): 73-93.
- Mayer DJ, Mao J, Holt J, Price DD. Cellular mechanisms of neuropathic pain, morphine tolerance, and their interactions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 1999; 96(14): 7731-6.

McCarson KE, Krause JE. NK-1 and NK-3 type tachykinin receptor mRNA expression in the rat spinal cord dorsal horn is increased during adjuvant or formalin-induced nociception. *J Neurosci.* 1994; 14: 712-720.

Melzack R, Wall PD. Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science. 1965; 150(3699): 971-9.

Michot B, Bourgoin S, Viguier F, Hamon M, Kayser V. Differential effects of calcitonin gene-related peptide receptor blockade by olcegepant on mechanical allodynia induced by ligation of the infraorbital nerve vs the sciatic nerve in the rat. *Pain*. 2012; 153(9): 1939-48.

Millan MJ. Descending control of pain. Prog Neurobiol. 2002;66:355-474.

- Milligan ED, Watkins LR. Pathological and protective roles of glia in chronic pain. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* 2009; 10(1): 23-26.
- Miyamoto M, Tsuboi Y, Takamiya K, Huganir RL, Kondo M, Shinoda M, Oi Y, Iwata
 K. Involvement of GluR2 and GluR3 subunit C-termini in the trigeminal spinal
 subnucleus caudalis and C1-C2 neurons in trigeminal neuropathic pain. *Neurosci Lett.* 2011; 491(1): 8-12.
- Miyamoto M, Tsuboi Y, Honda K, Kobayashi M, Takamiya K, Huganir RL, Kondo M,
 Shinoda M, Sessle BJ, Katagiri A, Kita D, Suzuki I, Oi Y, Iwata K. Involvement of
 AMPA receptor GluR2 and GluR3 trafficking in trigeminal spinal subnucleus
 caudalis and C1/C2 neurons in acute-facial inflammatory pain. *PLoS One*. 2012;
 7(8): e44055.
- Myren M, Olesen J, Gupta S. Prostaglandin E2 receptor expression in the rat trigeminalvascular system and other brain structures involved in pain. *Neurosci Lett.* 2012; 506(1): 64-9.

- Nakaya Y, Kaneko T, Shigemoto R, Nakanishi S, Mizuno N. Immunohistochemical localization of substance P receptor in the central nervous system of the adult rat. *J Comp Neurol.* 1994; 347: 249-274.
- Narita N, Kumar N, Cherkas PS, Chiang CY, Dostrovsky JO, Coderre TJ, Sessle BJ. Systemic pregabalin attenuates sensorimotor responses and medullary glutamate release in inflammatory tooth pain model. *Neuroscience*. 2012; 218: 359-66.
- Neugebauer V, Galhardo V, Maione S, Mackey SC. Forebrain pain mechanisms. *Brain Res Rev.* 2009; 60(1): 226-42.
- Nomura H, Ogawa A, Tashiro A, Morimoto T, Hu JW, Iwata K. Induction of Fos protein-like immunoreactivity in the trigeminal spinal nucleus caudalis and upper cervical cord following noxious and non-noxious mechanical stimulation of the whisker pad of the rat with an inferior alveolar nerve transection. *Pain.* 2002; 95(3): 225-38.
- Oatway MA, Chen Y, Weaver LC. The 5-HT3 receptor facilitates mechanical allodynia following spinal cord injury. *Pain*. 2004; 110: 259–268.
- Ohya A. Responses of trigeminal subnucleus interpolaris neurons to afferent inputs from deep oral structures. *Brain Res Bull.* 1992; 29(6): 773-81.
- Ohya A, Tsuruoka M, Imai E, Fukunaga H, Shinya A, Furuya R, Kawawa T, Matsui Y. Thalamic- and cerebellar-projecting interpolaris neuron responses to afferent inputs. *Brain Res Bull.* 1993; 32(6): 615-21.
- Oka T, Aou S, Hori T. Intracerebrovascular injection of interleukin-1 beta induces hyperalgesia in rats. *Brain Res.* 1993; 624(1-2): 61-8.

Okada-Ogawa A, Suzuki I, Sessle BJ, Chiang CY, Salter MW, Dostrovsky JO, Tsuboi Y,

Kondo M, Kitagawa J, Kobayashi A, Noma N, Imamura Y, Iwata K. Astroglia in medullary dorsal horn (trigeminal spinal subnucleus caudalis) are involved in trigeminal neuropathic pain mechanisms. *J Neurosci.* 2009; 29(36): 11161-71.

- Okamoto K, Thompson R, Tashiro A, Chang Z, Bereiter DA. Bright light produces Fospositive neurons in caudal trigeminal brainstem. *Neuroscience*. 2009; 160(4): 858-64.
- Okubo M, Castro A, Guo W, Zou S, Ren K, Wei F, Keller A, Dubner R. Transition to persistent orofacial pain after nerve injury involves supraspinal serotonin mechanisms. *J Neurosci.* 2013; 33(12): 5152-61.
- Oliveras JL, Besson JM, Guilbaud G, Liebeskind JC. Behavioral and electrophysiological evidence of pain inhibition from midbrain stimulation in the cat. *Exp Brain Res*. 1974; 20(1): 32-44.
- O'Neill J, Brock C, Olesen AE, Andresen T, Nilsson M, Dickenson AH. Unravelling the mystery of capsaicin: a tool to understand and treat pain. *Pharmacol Rev.* 2012; 64(4): 939-71.
- Pacharinsak C, Khasabov SG, Beitz AJ, Simone DA, NK-1 receptors in the rostral ventromedial medulla contribute to hyperalgesia produced by intraplantar injection of capsaicin. *Pain*, 2008; 139: 34–46.
- Pagano RL, Fonoff ET, Dale CS, Ballester G, Teixeira MJ, Britto LR. Motor cortex stimulation inhibits thalamic sensory neurons and enhances activity of PAG neurons: Possible pathways for antinociception. *Pain.* 2012; 153(12): 2359-69.
- Park SJ, Chiang CY, Hu JW, Sessle BJ. Neuroplasticity induced by tooth pulp stimulation in the trigeminal subnucleus oralis involves NMDA receptor

mechanisms. J Neurophysiol. 2001; 85(5): 1836-46.

- Park CK, Lu N, Xu ZZ, Liu T, Serhan CN, Ji RR. Resolving TRPV1- and TNFα-mediated spinal cord synaptic plasticity and inflammatory pain with neuroprotectin D1. *J Neurosci.* 2011; 31(42): 15072-85.
- Paxinos, G.; Watson, C. The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates. 5. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2005.
- Pereira LM, Lima-Junior RC, Bem AX, Teixeira CG, Grassi LS, Medeiros RP, Marques-Neto RD, Callado RB, Aragao KS, Wong DV, Vale ML, Brito GA, Ribeiro RA.
 Blockade of TRPA1 with HC-030031 attenuates visceral nociception by a mechanism independent of inflammatory resident cells, nitric oxide and the opioid system. *Eur J Pain*. 2012 [Epub ahead of print].
- Pert A, Yaksh T. Sites of morphine induced analgesia in the primate brain: relation to pain pathways. *Brain Res.* 1974; 80(1): 135-40.
- Pertovaara A, Wei H, Hamalainen MM. Lidocaine in the rostroventromedial medulla and the periaqueductal gray attenuates allodynia in neuropathic rats. *Neurosci Lett*. 1996; 218: 127-130.
- Pfaller K, Arvidsson J. Central distribution of trigeminal and upper cervical primary afferents in the rat studied by anterograde transport of horseradish peroxidase conjugated to wheat germ agglutinin. *J Comp Neurol.* 1988; 268(1): 91-108.
- Piao ZG, Cho IH, Park CK, Hong JP, Choi SY, Lee SJ, Lee S, Park K, Kim JS, Oh SB. Activation of glia and microglial p38 MAPK in medullary dorsal horn contributes to tactile hypersensitivity following trigeminal sensory nerve injury. *Pain.* 2006; 121(3): 219-31.
- Pinto M, Sousa M, Lima D, Tavares I. Participation of mu-opioid, GABA(B), and NK1 receptors of major pain control medullary areas in pathways targeting the rat spinal cord: Implications for descending modulation of nociceptive transmission. *J Comp Neurol.* 2008; 510: 175-187.
- Porreca F, Ossipov MH, Gebhart GF. Chronic pain and medullary descending facilitation. *Trends Neurosci.* 2002: 25(6): 319-25.
- Potrebic SB, Fields HL, Mason P. Serotonin immunoreactivity is contained in one physiological cell class in the rat rostral ventromedial medulla. *J Neurosci.* 1994; 14(3): 1655-65.
- Pourrier SD, Nieuwstraten W, Van Cranenburgh B, Schreuders TA, Stam HJ, Selles RW.
 Three cases of referred sensation in traumatic nerve injury of the hand:
 implications for understanding central nervous system reorganization. *J Rehabil Med.* 2010; 42(4): 357-61.
- Pozo MA, Cervero F. Neurons in the rat spinal trigeminal complex driven by corneal nociceptors: receptive-field properties and effects of noxious stimulation of the cornea. *J Neurophysiol.* 1993; 70(6): 2370-8.
- Proudfit HK, Anderson EG. Morphine analgesia: blockade by raphe magnus lesions. *Brain Res.* 1975; 98(3): 612-18.
- Raghavendra V, Tanga FY, DeLeo JA. Complete Freunds adjuvant-induced peripheral inflammation evokes glial activation and proinflammatory cytokine expression in the CNS. *Eur J Neurosci.* 2004; 20(2): 467-73.

Rahman W, Suzuki R, Webber M, Hunt SP, Dickenson AH. Depletion of endogenous

spinal 5-HT attenuates the behavioural hypersensitivity to mechanical and cooling stimuli induced by spinal nerve ligation. *Pain*. 2006; 123: 264-274.

- Rahman W, Bauer CS, Bannister K, Vonsy JL, Dolphin AC, Dickenson AH. Descending serotonergic facilitation and the antinociceptive effects of pregabalin in a rat model of osteoarthritic pain. *Mol Pain*. 2009; 5: 45.
- Reeve AJ, Patel S, Fox A, Walker K, Urban L. Intrathecally administered endotoxin or cytokines produce allodynia, hyperalgesia and changes in spinal cord neuronal responses to nociceptive stimuli in the rat. *Eur J Pain*. 2000; 4(3): 247-57.
- Ren K. An improved method for assessing mechanical allodynia in the rat. *Physiol Behav.* 1999; 67: 711–6.
- Ren K, Dubner R. Enhanced Descending modulation of nociception in rats with persistent hindpaw inflammation. *J Neurophysiol*. 1996; 76: 3025–37.
- Ren K, Dubner R: Central Nervous System Plasticity and Persistent Pain. J Orofacial Pain. 1999; 13: 155-163.
- Ren K, Dubner R. Descending modulation in persistent pain: An update. *Pain*. 2002; 100: 1-6.
- Ren K, Dubner R. Neuron-glia crosstalk gets serious: role in pain hypersensitivity. *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol.* 2008; 21(5): 570-9.
- Ren K, Dubner R. The role of trigeminal interpolaris-caudalis transition zone in persistent orofacial pain. *Int Rev Neurobiol.* 2011; 97: 207-25.
- Ren K, Torres R. Role of interleukin-1beta during pain and inflammation. *Brain Res Rev.* 2009; 60(1): 57-64.

Reynolds DV. Surgery in the rat during electrical analgesia induced by focal brain

stimulation. Science. 1969; 164: 444-445.

- Ro JY, Capra NF. Evidence for subnucleus interpolaris in craniofacial muscle pain mechanisms demonstrated by intramuscular injections with hypertonic saline. *Brain Res.* 1999; 842(1): 166-83.
- Ro JY, Harriott A, Crouse U, Capra NF. Innocuous jaw movements increase c-fos expression in trigeminal sensory nuclei produced by masseter muscle inflammation. *Pain*. 2003; 104: 539-548.
- Ro JY, Capra NF, Lee JS, Masri R, ChunYH. Hypertonic saline-induced muscle nociception and c-fos activation are partially mediated by peripheral NMDA receptors. *Eur J Pain.* 2007; 11(4): 398-405.
- Roberts J, Ossipov MH, Porreca F. Glial activation in the rostroventromedial medulla promotes descending facilitation to mediate inflammatory hypersensitivity. *Eur J Neurosci.* 2009; 30: 229-241.
- Ronde P, Nichols RA. High calcium permeability of serotonin 5-HT3 receptors on presynaptic nerve terminals from rat striatum. *J Neurochem*. 1998; 70(3): 1094-103.
- Rosen A, Zhang YX, Lund I, Lundeberg T, Yu LC. Substance P microinjected into the periaqueductal gray matter induces antinociception and is released following morphine administration. *Brain Res.* 2004; 1001: 87-94.
- Saffroy M, Torrens Y, Glowinski J, Beaujouan JC. Autoradiographic distribution of tachykinin NK2 binding sites in the rat brain: comparison with NK1 and NK3 binding sites. *Neuroscience*. 2000; 116: 761–773.

Samad TA, Moore KA, Sapirstein A, Billet S, Allchorne A, Poole S, Bonventre JV,

Woolf CJ. Interleukin-1beta-mediated induction of Cox-2 in the CNS contributes to inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. *Nature*. 2001; 410(6827): 471-5.

- Sawynok J, Reid AR. Reduction of formalin-evoked responses and maintenance of peripheral antinociception by morphine against formalin in the spared nerve injury model. *Neurosci Lett.* 2011; 494(2): 99-103.
- Schafer MK, Nohr D, Krause JE, Weihe E. Inflammation-induced upregulation of NK1 receptor mRNA in dorsal horn neurones. *Neuroreport*. 1993; 4: 1007-1010.
- Schultz G, Melzack R. A case of referred pain evoked by remote light touch after partial nerve injury. *Pain.* 1999; 81(1-2): 204-8.
- Seltzer Z, Dubner R, Shir Y. A novel behavioral model of neuropathic pain disorders produced in rats by partial sciatic nerve injury. *Pain.* 1990; 43(2): 205-18.
- Sessle BJ: Acute and chronic craniofacial pain: brainstem mechanisms of nociceptive transmission and neuroplasticity, and their clinical correlates. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med.* 2000; 11: 57-91.
- Shibuta K, Suzuki I, Shinoda M, Tsuboi Y, Honda K, Shimizu N, Sessle BJ, Iwata K. Organization of hyperactive microglial cells in trigeminal spinal subnucleus caudalis and upper cervical spinal cord associated with orofacial neuropathic pain. *Brain Res.* 2012; 1451: 74-86.
- Shigenaga Y, Chen IC, Suemune S, Nishimori T, Nasution ID, Yoshida A, Sato H,Okamoto T, Sera M, Hosoi M. Oral and facial representation within the medullaryand upper cervical dorsal horns in the cat. *J Comp Neurol.* 1986; 243(3): 388-408.
- Shigenaga Y, Sera M, Nishimori T, Suemune S, Nishimura M, Yoshida A, Tsuru K. The central projection of masticatory afferent fibers to the trigeminal sensory nuclear

complex and upper cervical spinal cord. J Comp Neurol. 1988; 268(4): 489-507.

- Shimizu K, Chai B, LaGraize SC, Wei F, Dubner R, Ren K. Microinjection of IL-1beta into the trigeminal transition zone produces bilateral NMDA receptor dependent orofacial hyperalgesia involving descending circuitry. *Open Pain J.* 2009a; 2: 76-83.
- Shimizu K, Guo W, Wang H, et al. Differential involvement of trigeminal transition zone and laminated subnucleus caudalis in orofacial deep and cutaneous hyperalgesia:
 The effects of interleukin-10 and glial inhibitors. *Mol Pain*. 2009b; 5: 75.
- Sidebottom AJ, Carey EC, Madahar AK. Cryoanalgesia in the management of intractable pain in the temporomandibular joint: a five-year retrospective review. *Br J Oral Macxillofac Surg.* 2011; 49(8): 653-6.
- Smith DJ, Perrotti JM, Crisp T, Cabral ME, Long JT, Scalzitti JM. The mu opiate receptor is responsible for descending pain inhibition originating in the periaqueductal gray region of the rat brain. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 1988; 156(1): 47-54.
- Sommer C. Is serotonin hyperalgesia or analgesic? *Curr Pain Headache Rep.* 2006; 10(2): 101-6.
- Spradley JM, Davoodi A, Carstens MI, Carstens E. Effects of acute stressors on itch-and pain-related behaviors in rats. *Pain*. 2012; 153(9): 1890-7.
- Strassman AM, Vos BP. Somatotopic and laminar organization of fos-like immunoreactivity in the medullary and upper cervical dorsal horn induced by noxious facial stimulation in the rat. *J Comp Neurol*. 1993; 331: 495-516.
- Stuesse SL, Crisp T, McBurney DL, Schechter JB, Lovell JA, Cruce WL. Neuropathic pain in aged rats: behavioral responses and astrocytic activation. *Exp Brain Res.*

2001; 137(2): 219-27.

- Sugimoto T, Hara T, Shirai H, Abe T, Ichikawa H, Sato T. c-fos induction in the subnucleus caudalis following noxious mechanical stimulation of the oral mucous membrane. *Exp Neurol.* 1994; 129(2): 251-6.
- Sugimoto T, He YF, Funahashi M, Ichikawa H. Induction of immediate early genes c-fos and zif268 in the subnucleus oralis by noxious tooth pulp stimulation. *Brain Res.* 1998; 794(2): 353-8.
- Sugiyo S, Takemura M, Dubner R, Ren K. Trigeminal transition zone/rostral ventromedial medulla connections and facilitation of orofacial hyperalgesia after masseter inflammation in rats. *J Comp Neurol.* 2005; 493: 510–23.
- Sung CS, Wen ZH, Chang WK, Chan KH, Ho ST, Tsai SK, Chang YC, Wong CS. Inhibition of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase attenuates interleukin-1betainduced thermal hyperalgesia and inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in the spinal cord. *J Neurochem.* 2005; 94(3): 742-52.
- Suzuki R, Morcuende S, Webber M, Hunt SP, Dickenson AH. Superficial NK1expressing neurons control spinal excitability through activation of descending pathways. *Nat Neurosci*. 2002; 5: 1319-1326.
- Svensson CI, Tran TK, Fitzsimmons B, Yaksh TL, Hua XY. Descending serotonergic facilitation of spinal ERK activation and pain behavior. *FEBS Lett.* 2006; 580: 6629-6634.
- Takahashi K, Watanabe M, Suekawa Y, Ito G, Inubushi T, Hirose N, Murasaki K, Hiyama S, Uchida T, Tanne K. IL-1beta in the trigeminal subnucleus caudalis contributes to extra-territorial allodynia/hyperalgesia following a trigeminal nerve

injury. Eur J Pain. 2011; 15(5): 467.e1-14.

- Takemura M, Sugimoto T, Sakai A. Topographic organization of central terminal region of different sensory branches of the rat mandibular nerve. *Exp Neurol.* 1987; 96(3): 540-57.
- Takemura M, Sugiyo S, Moritani M, Kobayashi m, Yonehara N. Mechanisms of orofacial pain control in the central nervous system. *Arch Histol Cytol.* 2006; 69(2): 79-100.
- Tanga FY, Raghavendra V, DeLeo JA. Quantitative real-time RT-PCR assessment of spinal microglial and astrocytic activation markers in a rat model of neuropathic pain. *Neurochem Int.* 2004; 45(2-3): 397-407.
- Terayama R, Guan Y, Dubner R, Ren K. Activity-induced plasticity in brain stem pain modulatory circuitry after inflammation. *NeuroReport*. 2000; 11: 1915–9.
- Tillu DV, Gebhart GF, Sluka KA. Descending facilitatory pathways from the RVM initiate and maintain bilateral hyperalgesia after muscle insult. *Pain.* 2008; 136: 331-339.
- Tsuda M, Mizokoshi A, Shigemoto-Mogami Y, Koizumi S, Inoue K. Activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in spinal hyperactive microglia contributes to pain hypersensitivity following peripheral nerve injury. *Glia*. 2004; 45(1): 89-95.
- Urban MO, Gebhart GF. Supraspinal contributions to hyperalgesia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1999; 96: 7687-7692.
- Urban MO, Zahn PK, Gebhart GF. Descending facilitatory influences from the rostral medial medulla mediate secondary, but not primary hyperalgesia in the rat. *Neuroscience*. 1999; 90(2): 349-52.

- van Wilgen CP, Keizer D. The sensitization model to explain how chronic pain exists without tissue damage. *Pain Manag Nurs.* 2012; 13(1): 60-5.
- Vanegas H, Schaible H-G. Descending control of persistent pain: inhibitory or facilitatory? *Brain Res Rev.* 2004; 46: 295–309.
- Vanelderen P, Rouwette T, Kozicz T, Roubos E, Van Zundert J, Heylen Y, Vissers K. The role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in different animal models of neuropathic pain. *Eur J Pain*. 2010; 14(5): 473.e1-473.e9.
- Viisanen H, Pertovaara A. Roles of the rostroventromedial medulla and the spinal 5-HT(1A) receptor in descending antinociception induced by motor cortex stimulation in the neuropathic rat. *Neurosci Lett.* 2010; 476(3): 133-7.
- Viggiano A, Nicodemo U, Viggiano E, Messina G, Viggiano A, Monda M, De Luca B. Mastication overload causes an increase in O2- production into the subnucleus oralis of the spinal trigeminal nucleus. *Neuroscience*. 2010; 166(2): 416-21.
- Villa G, Ceruti S, Zanardelli M, Magni G, Jasmin L, Ohara PT, Abbracchio MP.
 Temporomandibular joint inflammation activates glial and immune cells in both the trigeminal ganglia and in the spinal trigeminal nucleus. *Mol Pain*. 2010; 6: 89.
- Wang H, Wei F, Dubner R, Ren K. Selective distribution and function of primary afferent nociceptive inputs from deep muscle tissue to the brainstem trigeminal transition zone. *J Comp Neurol.* 2006; 498: 390-402.
- Watanabe M, Guo W, Zou S, Sugiyo S, Dubner R, Ren K. Antibody array analysis of peripheral and blood cytokine levels in rats after masseter inflammation. *Neurosci Lett.* 2005; 382(1-2): 128-33.

Watkins LR, Wiertelak EP, Goehler LE, Smith KP, Martin D, Maier SF. Characterization

of cytokine-induced hyperalgesia. Brain Res. 1994; 654(1): 15-26.

- Watkins LR, Martin D, Ulrich P, Tracey KJ, Maier SF. Evidence for the involvement of spinal cord glia in subcutaneous formalin induced hyperalgesia in the rat. *Pain*. 1997; 71: 225-235.
- Watkins LR, Maier SF. Immune regulation of central nervous system functions: from sickness responses to pathological pain. *J Intern Med.* 2005; 257(2): 139-55.
- Wei F, Dubner R, Ren K. Nucleus reticularis gigantocellularis and nucleus raphe magnus in the brain stem exert opposite effects on behavioral hyperalgesia and spinal Fos protein expression after peripheral inflammation. *Pain.* 1999; 80: 127–141.
- Wei F, Guo W, Zou S, Ren K, Dubner R. Supraspinal glial-neuronal interactions contribute to descending pain facilitation. *J Neurosci.* 2008; 28: 10482-10495.
- Wei F, Dubner R, Zou S, et al. Molecular depletion of descending serotonin unmasks its novel facilitatory role in the development of persistent pain. *J Neurosci.* 2010; 30: 8624-8636.
- Wei H, Pertovaara A. MK-801, an NMDA receptor antagonist, in the rostroventromedial medulla attenuates development of neuropathic symptoms in the rat. *Neuroreport*. 1999; 10(14): 2933-7.
- Wiertelak EP, Roemer B, Maier SF, Watkins LR. Comparison of the effects of nucleus tractus solitarius and ventral medial medulla lesions on illness-induced and subcutaneous formalin induced hyperalgesias. *Brain Res.* 1997;748:143-150.
- Wilson AR, Maher L, Morgan MM. Repeated cannabinoid injections into the rat periaqueductal gray enhance subsequent morphine antinociception. *Neuropharmacol.* 2008; 55(7): 1219-25.

- Woolf CJ, Shortland P, Sivilotti LG. Sensitization of high mechanothreshold superficial dorsal horn and flexor motor neurons following chemosensitive primary afferent activation. *Pain.* 1994; 58(2): 141-55.
- Woolf CJ, Salter MW. Neuronal plasticity: Increasing the gain in pain. Science. 2000; 288: 1765-9.
- Yilmaz P, Diers M, Diener S, Rance M, Wessa M, Flor H. Brain correlates of stress induced analgesia. *Pain* 2010; 151: 522-529
- Yoshida A, Dostrovsky JO, Sessle BJ, Chiang CY. Trigeminal projections to the nucleus submedius of the thalamus in the rat. *J Comp Neurol*. 1991; 307: 609-625.
- Zagon A. Internal connections in the rostral ventromedial medulla of the rat. *J Auton Nerv Syst* 1995; 53: 43-56.
- Zapata A, Pontis S, Schepers RJ, Wang R, Oh E, Stein A, Bäckman CM, Worley P, Enguita M, Abad MA, Trullas R, Shippenberg TS. Alleviation of neuropathic pain hypersensitivity by inhibiting neuronal pentraxin 1 in the rostral ventromedial medulla. *J Neurosci.* 2012; 32(36): 12431-6.
- Zeitz KP, Guy N, Malmberg AB, Dirajlal S, Martin WJ, Sun L, Bonhaus DW, Stucky CL, Julius D, Basbaum AI. The 5-HT3 subtype of serotonin receptor contributes to nociceptive processing via a novel subset of myelinated and unmyelinated nociceptors. *J Neurosci.* 2002; 22: 1010–1019.
- Zhang RX, Liu B, Wang L, Ren K, Qiao JT, Berman BM, Lao L. Spinal glial activation in a new rat model of bone cancer pain produced by prostate cancer cell inoculation of the tibia. *Pain.* 2005; 118(1-2): 125-36.

Zhang L, Hammond DL. Substance P enhances excitatory transmission on spinally

projecting neurons in the rostral ventromedial medulla after inflammatory injury. *J Neurophysiol.* 2009; 102(2): 1139-51.

- Zhao M, Li Q, Tang JS. The effects of microinjection of morphine into the thalamic nucleus submedius on formalin-evoked nociceptive responses of neurons in the rat spinal dorsal horn. *Neurosci Lett.* 2006; 401(1-2): 103-7.
- Zhao ZQ, Chiechio S, Sun YG, Zhang KH, Zhao CS, Scott M, Johnson RL, Deneris ES, Renner KJ, Gereau RW 4th., Chen ZF. Mice lacking central serotonergic neurons show enhanced inflammatory pain and an impaired analgesic response to antidepressant drugs. *J Neurosci.* 2007; 27: 6045–6053.
- Zhou Q, Imbe H, Dubner R, Ren K. Persistent fos protein expression after orofacial deep or cutaneous tissue inflammation in rats: Implications for persistent orofacial pain. *J Comp Neurol.* 1999; 412: 276-291.
- Zhu X, Han Y, Xiong W, Liu W, Lu S, Li J, Wang H, Fan Z. Effects of heating coagulation of middle meningeal artery on plasma CGRP level and c-fos expression in migraine rat triggered by nitroglycerin. *Neurol Sci.* 2011; 32(4): 589-94.
- Zhuang ZY, Wen YR, Zhang DR, Borsello T, Bonny C, Strichartz GR, Decosterd I, Ji RR. A peptide c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) inhibitor blocks mechanical allodynia after spinal nerve ligation: respective roles of JNK activation in primary sensory neurons and spinal astrocytes for neuropathic pain development and maintenance. *J Neurosci.* 2006; 26(13): 3551-60.

- Zhuo M, Gebhart GF. Spinal serotonin receptors mediate descending facilitation of a nociceptive reflex from the nuclei reticularis gigantocellularis and gigantocellularis pars alpha in the rat. *Brain Res.* 1991; 550(1): 35-48.
- Zhuo M, Wu G, Wu LJ. Neuronal and microglial mechanisms of neuropathic pain. *Mol Brain.* 2011; 4: 31.